

RESEARCH REPORT

Policy Levers to Support Single-Mother Economic Mobility

An Evidence-Based Agenda

Elaine Waxman, Poonam Gupta, and Baris Tezel April 2025





ABOUT THE URBAN INSTITUTE

The Urban Institute is a nonprofit research organization that provides data and evidence to help advance upward mobility and equity. We are a trusted source for changemakers who seek to strengthen decisionmaking, create inclusive economic growth, and improve the well-being of families and communities. For more than 50 years, Urban has delivered facts that inspire solutions—and this remains our charge today.

Copyright @ April 2025, Urban Institute. Permission is granted for reproduction of this file, with attribution to the Urban Institute.

Contents

Acknowledgments	iii
Policy Levers to Support Single-Mother Economic Mobility	1
Methodology	9
Special Consideration for Diverse Single-Mother Families	12
Special Considerations for Mixed-Status Families	16
Affordable and Accessible Child Care	23
Increased Job Quality	32
Postsecondary Education Access and Workforce Development Opportunites	47
Health Care and Maternal and Child Health Services	55
Affordable Housing Access and Rent Support	64
Expanded Tax Benefits	70
Financial Resilience, Stability, and Well-Being	78
Programmatic Efforts to Fill Policy Gaps	87
About the Authors	93
Statement of Independence	94

ii CONTENTS

Acknowledgments

This report was funded by Share Our Strength, as part of their Family Economic Mobility Initiative. We are grateful to them and to all our funders, who make it possible for Urban to advance its mission.

The Family Economic Mobility initiative at Share Our Strength serves as a national convener and catalyst bringing together organizations committed to advancing economic mobility for single mothers and their families. Grounded in the belief that increasing income and wages and reducing the cost burden of food access are key to ending childhood hunger, the initiative invests in scalable solutions like financial coaching, affordable child care, income boosts, and convenience equity to help build a future where all families can thrive.

The views expressed are those of the authors and should not be attributed to the Urban Institute, its trustees, or its funders. Funders do not determine research findings or the insights and recommendations of Urban experts. Further information on the Urban Institute's funding principles is available at urban.org/fundingprinciples.

The authors gratefully acknowledge assistance from Molly Scott, Chantel Boyens, Shayne Spaulding, Theresa Anderson, Emily Johnston, Heather Sandstrom, Lisa Clemens-Cope, Samantha Batko, Christina Stacy, Margot-Crandall-Hollick, Kassandra Martinchek, Gina Adams, Theresa Anderson, and Hamutal Bernstein, and we thank Alex Dallman for her careful editing.

ACKNOWLEGMENTS iii

Policy Levers to Support Single-Mother Economic Mobility

In the US today, children are raised in diverse family structures. As of 2023, approximately 70 percent of families living with their own children included married parents while 30 percent were led by single parents. Among single-parent households, the majority (approximately 80 percent) are led by single mothers. Single mothers are an especially important group to consider when developing policy, as they represent a large segment of parenting Americans but also face elevated rates of poverty and material hardship, and they are often negatively positioned in the country's social safety net. Beyond those summary statistics are more nuanced and complex stories of all kinds of families that include children: married parents, biological or adoptive parents; married families that include stepparents, cohabiting parents, single parents living alone or with a partner, married or single parents living with extended family, and families where grandparents, other relatives, or nonrelated caregivers are raising children. Children may also experience more than one type of family arrangement before adulthood.

Policy choices can either mitigate poor outcomes or contribute to them. In a recent study of 30 democratic countries with highly developed economies, the US was found to have the highest "penalty" for single motherhood. But, also, in simulations of changes to child poverty in a hypothetical US without any single parents, the US would still have the fourth highest child poverty rate, and stark disparities across race and ethnicity would persist.⁵

In this report, we begin with the premise that public policy should support all types of families to thrive. We dive into the policy levers based on evidence that shows they support single mothers' economic and social mobility. We define upward economic and social mobility as having a feeling of dignity and belonging in community, having economic success to support their material well-being, and having power and autonomy over their lives and their future. We focus on maintenance, expansion, and innovation in policies across increasing job quality, expanding access to workforce development opportunities and postsecondary education, promoting health care coverage, promoting housing affordability, promoting financial well-being, expanding access to tax benefits, and improving child care access, as each of these sector plays an important role in facilitating economic mobility.

Who Are Single-Mother Households?

As noted above, families led by single mothers make up 80 percent of single-parent households, motivating the focus on policies supporting single mothers in this report.⁸ While all single-parent households are at higher risk of experiencing poverty and material hardship in an economy that increasingly features dual-earner households, single mothers face the greatest challenges.⁹ In 2023, a little over one in three (37 percent) single-mother households were below the poverty line, compared with 20 percent of single-father households and 7 percent of married-couple families.¹⁰

Further, the percentage of families led by single mothers varies amongst racial/ethnic groups. As of 2023, the largest group of single mothers were white—37 percent; 29 percent were Black; and 26 percent were Hispanic. About 3 percent were Asian and a little more than 4 percent reported other racial and ethnic backgrounds. When looking within each of these groups, the likelihood of single motherhood also varied. Single motherhood is most common among Black mothers (47 percent), while about 25 percent of Hispanic mothers, 14 percent of white mothers, and 8 percent of Asian mothers were single parenting. Historical and persistent disadvantages among communities of color influenced the experience of poverty associated with single motherhood. Hispanic and Black single mothers experienced poverty rates of 33 percent and 31 percent, respectively, compared with 24 percent of white single mothers. Not surprisingly, single-parent households face significant material hardship. Households with children headed by a single mother faced a food insecurity rate of 33 percent, compared with 17 percent of all households with children in 2023. Lastly, while data are often limited on American Indian and Alaska Native (AIAN) families, according to an analysis of 2017-21 American Community Survey data, 28 percent of AIAN children lived in single-mother households, and 9 percent lived in single-father families.

Why Are Single Mothers More Susceptible to Poverty and Adverse Outcomes?

Single mothers are more susceptible to poverty and adverse outcomes due to a web of intersecting structural and policy-driven barriers faced by single mothers (and single parents more broadly), including the following:

Higher caregiving responsibilities. Single parents often have higher parental responsibilities
relative to co-parenting mothers, with varying levels of support from their networks of family
and friends. This includes providing care for their children while simultaneously engaging in

- their career to financially support their family, which is oftentimes a requirement to access safety net programs.
- High costs. Child care has become increasingly unaffordable, even for dual income households.¹⁶ The national average cost of child care in 2023 was \$11,582. That level of care takes up one-third (32 percent) of the median income of a single parent with children.¹⁷ In addition, the cost of housing can erode the ability of single mothers to save; the National Women's Law Center reports that almost half of single mothers of color experienced severe rent burden, which is defined as spending more than 50 percent of income on rent costs.¹⁸
- Single income and lower job quality. Women, especially single mothers, are overrepresented in low-wage occupations with few benefits and unstable or nontraditional hours.¹⁹ One in six women in the US found themselves in low-paying jobs.²⁰
- Vulnerability to economic shocks. Nearly half of single parent-households are unable to build up sufficient financial savings, for example to cover the cost of an emergency,²¹ despite high participation in the labor force (three in four hold full- or part-time positions).²²
- Mental health stressors. Single mothers are more likely than mothers in dual-parent households to experience chronic depression, anxiety, substance abuse, low self-esteem, among other challenges.^{23, 24} Poorer mental health not only impacts the emotional well-being of the mother but has been associated with worse academic and psychological outcomes for children, which underscores the importance of improving access to behavioral health care and other supports for single-mother households. ^{25, 26}

How Do We Talk about Single Mothers?

Any policy agenda related to single mothers must address the stigma that persists around single-mother households. Sentiment toward single parenting has improved over time; according to data from the General Social Survey in 1994, 35 percent of adults agreed that single parents could raise children as well as two married parents; the percentage increased to 48 percent by 2012. However, a broader negative sentiment associated with single motherhood persists. In a 2021 Pew Research Center survey, about half of adults (47 percent) said that more single women raising children on their own was bad for society, and 24 percent said the same about more unmarried couples raising children.²⁷

The negative narrative around single mothers is often reflected in explicit policy choices. For example, the stated goals of the 1996 welfare reform legislation (the Personal Responsibility and Work

Opportunity Reconciliation Act) included reducing welfare dependency by promoting work and marriage and encouraging the formation of two-parent families. While married parents do continue to fare better economically than single parents, recent scholarship suggests that the positive association between marriage and reduced child poverty has diminished over time, and the importance of labor force participation in reducing child poverty has increased.²⁸ Moreover, a significant number of married parents also struggle with economic hardship.²⁹ Ultimately, the narrative must shift in how we discuss economic mobility of the household, and what children need to thrive.

For many years, the conversation among researchers, advocates, policymakers, and others regarding single-parent families has focused on how this family type might negatively affect children. What if, instead, we focus on what children need to thrive?

—Annie E Casey Foundation³⁰³⁰

How Will the Shifting Political Climate Affect Policies Important to Single Mothers and Their Children?

While it is difficult to predict how economic and social policies will unfold in the new presidential administration and Congress, the current political rhetoric suggests there will be significant pressure to cut social spending and curtail programs that have attempted to mitigate persistent discrimination and structural disadvantage for women, people with disabilities, and communities of color. If successful, the impact on single mothers and their children could be quite negative.

Policy strategies outlined in Project 2025, a conservative political initiative and set of proposals, have not officially been adopted by the current administration, but much of the document aligns with the current administration's agenda. Several of the policy ideas included in Project 2025 could dramatically increase hardships for single mothers, including the following:

Removing the "head of household" filing status from the tax code, which could potentially raise taxes for many single-mother households.³² Head of household status allows sole householders to claim a larger standard deduction than if they file under "single" status.³³ Some argue that if this change were made and paired with positive changes to the child tax credit, the

- change's impact might be mitigated, but there is no guarantee that the CTC will be prioritized as part of the anticipated tax package.
- Eliminating Head Start, which for decades, has provided affordable, high-quality early child care for lower-income families, serving children from birth to age 5 in all 50 states, DC, and multiple territories, including Puerto Rico. Eliminating or even significantly reducing funding for Head Start could have a profound impact on families across the country, particularly those living in rural areas with limited availability of other types of care.³⁴ Project 2025 did not promote other child care investments that could assist families in affording child care.
- Reducing funding for and access to Medicaid, such as through block granting to states or implementing work requirements in this vital health insurance program. Previous studies of work requirements in federal safety net programs indicated that most people who can work do, that work requirements do not improve earnings, and that they often result in loss of important benefits that can actually support work.³⁵
- **Dismantling civil rights protections for women** and eliminating funding for diversity, equity, and inclusion initiatives, which would dramatically erode efforts to improve economic mobility for women, and in particular, women who have multiple targeted identities.³⁶

Moreover, the general narrative and framing about families and about single parenthood within the Project 2025 policy playbook is deeply negative, claiming if the "crisis of marriage and the family" continues, the nation is headed toward "social implosion." In this vein, Project 2025 proposed repealing policies focusing on "subsidizing single motherhood" and replacing them with "policies that support the formation of married, nuclear families" that are narrowly and heterosexually defined.³⁷ While the intensity of this language is situated in a specific time and context, it also reflects a long history of demonizing low-income women, and low-income women of color in particular, to justify changes in social policy.³⁸

Although it may seem to be a challenging time to prioritize strategies specifically focused on improving outcomes for single mothers, it may also be necessary to avoid the loss of gains that have been made in child and family well-being. One of the goals of this report is to provide various evidence-informed policy options to improve outcomes for children and their families, regardless of household structure. Evaluating proposed policies with an eye toward whether they center the well-being of all families or will make some children worse off is a basic lens for assessing whether a policy is truly "family friendly." State policy options and philanthropy-funded programs may offer ways to fill

emerging gaps but will not likely be sufficient to protect child well-being if a broad overhaul of federal policy results in vastly diminished support for children and their families.

In this report, we outline the methodology used to develop this policy agenda, then discuss key populations of single mothers that may be most affected by the policy environment, as a lens for reading this document. We then describe key policies across the domains outlined in the contents. We conclude by addressing how programmatic efforts can help fill gaps in services offered to single mothers where policy may be inadequate.

Notes

- ¹ "The American Family Today" (Washington DC: Pew Research Center, 2015), https://www.pewresearch.org/social-trends/2015/12/17/1-the-american-family-today/..
- ² "Children's Living Arrangements" (Washington DC: U.S. Census Bureau, 2023), https://www.census.gov/library/visualizations/interactive/childrens-living-arrangements.html..
- Gabrielle Juteau et al., "Exploring Family Structure Diversity Among Children in Families With Low Incomes" (Rockville, Maryland: ChildTrends, 2023), https://www.childtrends.org/publications/exploring-family-structure-diversity-among-children-in-families-with-low-incomes..
- ⁴ While just more than half of single mothers have never been married (51 percent), the other half are single due to a divorce (28 percent), a separation (16 percent), or having been widowed (5 percent). See Isabela Salas-Betsch, "The Economic Status of Single Mothers" (Washington DC: Center for American Progress, 2024), https://www.americanprogress.org/article/the-economic-status-of-single-mothers/.
- David Brady, Regina S. Baker, and Ryan Finnigan, "The Role of Single Motherhood in America's High Child Poverty" (Esch-sur-Alzette, Luxembourg: Cross National Data Center in Luxembourg, 2024), https://lisdatacenter.org/wps/liswps/881.pdf.
- 6 "Three-Part Definition of Upward Mobility," Urban Institute, n.d., https://upward-mobility.urban.org/framework#definition..
- ⁷ "Predictors," Urban Institute, n.d., https://upward-mobility.urban.org/framework#predictors..
- Salas-Betsch, "The Economic Status of Single Mothers."
- "Dual-Income Couples/Dual-Earner Families," in The Social History of the American Family: An Encyclopedia, by Marilyn Coleman and Lawrence Ganong (2455 Teller Road, Thousand Oaks California 91320 United States: SAGE Publications, Inc., 2014), https://doi.org/10.4135/9781452286143.n174.
- Emily A. Shrider, "Poverty in the United States: 2023" (Washington DC: U.S. Census Bureau, 2024), https://www.census.gov/library/publications/2024/demo/p60-283.pdf.
- ¹¹ Salas-Betsch, "The Economic Status of Single Mothers."
- Regina S. Baker, "Ethno-Racial Variation in Single Motherhood Prevalences and Penalties for Child Poverty in the United States, 1995–2018," The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science 702, no. 1 (2022): 20–36, https://doi.org/10.1177/00027162221120759.

- ¹³ Regina S. Baker, "Ethno-Racial Variation in Single Motherhood Prevalences"
- Matthew P. Rabbitt et al., "Household Food Security in the United States in 2022" (Washington DC: US Department of Agriculture, 2023), https://www.ers.usda.gov/publications/pub-details/?pubid=107702.
- Jordyn Pourier, Yiyu Chen, and Deena Around Him, "American Indian and Alaska Native Children Live in Diverse Family Structures" (Rockville, Maryland: ChildTrends, 2023), https://www.childtrends.org/publications/american-indian-alaska-native-diverse-family-structures.
- "Child Care Remains out of Financial Reach for Many Families, US Department of Labor Data Shows" (Washington DC: US Department of Labor Women's Bureau, 2023), https://www.dol.gov/newsroom/releases/wb/wb20230124.
- ¹⁷ "Child Care at a Standstill: Price and Landscape Analysis" (Arlington, Virginia: ChildCare Aware of America, 2023), https://www.childcareaware.org/thechildcarestandstill/.
- ¹⁸ "NWLC Releases New Demographic Data on Rent-Burdened Single Women" (Washington DC: National Women's Law Center, 2024), https://nwlc.org/press-release/nwlc-releases-new-demographic-data-on-rent-burdened-single-women.
- ¹⁹ "Hard Work Is Not Enough: Women In Low-Paid Jobs" (Washington DC: National Women's Law Center, 2023), https://nwlc.org/resource/when-hard-work-is-not-enough-women-in-low-paid-jobs/.
- ²⁰ The low-wage workforce can be defined in multiple ways, including as careers with the lowest average wages across industries, or via thresholds, such as the forty lowest-paying jobs (as in the NWLC report).
- ²¹ Susan Burhouse and Yazmin Osaki, "Single Parents: Financial Resilience, Banking, and Mobile Technology" (Washington DC: Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, 2024), https://www.fdic.gov/consumer-research/single-parents-financial-resilience-banking-and-mobile-technology.
- ²² Salas-Betsch, "The Economic Status of Single Mothers."
- lssar Daryanani et al., "Single Mother Parenting and Adolescent Psychopathology," Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology 44, no. 7 (2016): 1411–23, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-016-0128-x.
- ²⁴ Tara Watson and Simran Kalkat, "Single Mothers Experience High Rates of Psychological Distress. The Safety Net Can Help." (Washington DC: Brookings Institute, 2024), https://www.brookings.edu/articles/single-mothers-experience-high-rates-of-psychological-distress-the-safety-net-can-help/.
- Paula Allen-Meares et al., "Independent Effects of Paternal Involvement and Maternal Mental Illness on Child Outcomes," Social Service Review 84, no. 1 (2010): 103–27, https://doi.org/10.1086/652989.
- ²⁶ Christina Kamis, "The Long-Term Impact of Parental Mental Health on Children's Distress Trajectories in Adulthood," Society and Mental Health 11, no. 1 (2021): 54–68, https://doi.org/10.1177/2156869320912520.
- ²⁷ Gretchen Livingston, "The Changing Profile of Unmarried Parents" (Washington DC: Pew Research Center, 2018), https://www.pewresearch.org/social-trends/2018/04/25/the-changing-profile-of-unmarried-parents/; Kiley Hurst, "Rising Share of Americans See Women Raising Children on Their Own, Cohabitation as Bad for Society" (Washington DC: Pew Research Center, 2022), https://www.pewresearch.org/short-reads/2022/03/11/rising-share-of-americans-see-women-raising-children-on-their-own-cohabitation-as-bad-for-society/.
- Regina S. Baker, "The Changing Association Among Marriage, Work, and Child Poverty in the United States, 1974–2010," Journal of Marriage and Family 77, no. 5 (2015): 1166–78, https://doi.org/10.1111/jomf.12216.
- 29 Shawn Fremstad, "Married ... without Means: Poverty and Economic Hardship Among Married Americans" (Washington DC: Center for Economic and Policy Research, 2012), https://www.files.ethz.ch/isn/154991/married-without-means-2012-11.pdf.

- ³⁰ "Child Well-Being in Single-Parent Families," Annie E. Casey Foundation (blog), 2024, https://www.aecf.org/blog/child-well-being-in-single-parent-families.
- Melissa Quinn, "Where Trump Policies and Project 2025 Proposals Match Up," CBS News, 2025, https://www.cbsnews.com/news/trump-project-2025-playbook/.
- ³² Carl Davis, "The Quiet Effort to Make Single Parenthood More Expensive" (Washington DC: Institute on Taxation and Economic Policy, 2024), https://itep.org/effort-to-make-single-parenthood-more-expensive-project-2025/.
- ³³ Although this is not as high as married couples.
- ³⁴ Casey Peeks, "Project 2025 Would Eliminate Head Start, Severely Restricting Access to Child Care in Rural America" (Washington DC: Center for American Progress, 2024), https://www.americanprogress.org/article/project-2025-would-eliminate-head-start-severely-restricting-access-to-child-care-in-rural-america/.
- ³⁵ Elaine Waxman and Heather Hahn, "Work Requirements Sound Good, but the Evidence Just Doesn't Support Them," Urban Wire (blog), 2021, https://www.urban.org/urban-wire/work-requirements-sound-good-evidence-just-doesnt-support-them.
- 36 "Project 2025: What It Means for Women, Families, and Gender Justice" (Washington DC: National Women's Law Center, 2024), https://nwlc.org/resource/project-2025-what-it-means-for-women-families-and-gender-justice/.
- Roger Severino, "Department of Health and Human Services," in Mandate for Leadership: The Conservative Promise (Washington DC: The Heritage Foundation, 2023), 887, https://static.project2025.org/2025_MandateForLeadership_CHAPTER-14.pdf.
- ³⁸ Jill Quadagno, The Color of Welfare: How Racism Undermined the War on Poverty (Oxford University PressNew York, NY, 1994), https://doi.org/10.1093/oso/9780195079197.001.0001.

Methodology

To identify a cohesive set of policy levers that could advance the economic mobility of single mothers, we gathered insights across four stages.

Stage 1: Policy Scan

Urban began by conducting a policy scan of existing literature on policies that support single mothers and economic mobility. Urban collaborated on a set of search parameters with the Share Our Strength team (see below). The research focused on demographics within the target population that are most affected by certain policies (e.g., communities of color, unhoused families), as well as the evidence behind the effectiveness of policies.

- Public benefit access and adequacy
- Tax policies that support or disadvantage single mother households
- Paid leave and child care policies and supports
- Sectoral employment strategies
- Policies and programs supporting student-parents
- Health care coverage and access to services
- Child support and child welfare policies
- Financial well-being (e.g., credit access)
- Policies affecting immigrant and mixed-status families
- Access to housing opportunities
- Mental health and well-being

Stage 2: Consultations with Urban Experts

Once the literature review was completed, the team then spoke with 14 subject matter experts from the Urban Institute to supplement the information collected during the literature scan. Subject matter

METHODOLOGY 9

experts advised on key policy levers to explore, what evidence is most useful, and provided review of report sections under their area of expertise.

Stage 3: Additional Consultation with Share Our Strength Partners

The Urban research team then presented their findings to staff members at Share Our Strength, who then shared their feedback on the direction of the research project. To align findings from the policy scan with issues identified in the nonprofit sector, Urban also drew on two internal experts at Share Our Strength and seven Share Our Strength external stakeholders (see below) that are providing leadership in domains known to be important for increasing supports and opportunities for single-mother households. Urban conducted one-on-one interviews with key stakeholders to share findings from the policy scan and align findings with priorities from each stakeholder. Each call was held via Zoom and lasted for one hour.

- Why We Lift
- Jeremiah Program
- Reuben V. Anderson Center for Justice
- Mississippi Low-income Childcare Initiative
- Women's Bean Project
- Policy Matters Ohio
- Maine Equal Justice
- Internal experts from Share Our Strength
 - » Kelleen Zubick
 - » Chioma Hauenstein

Stage 4: Interviews with Single Mothers

The Urban Institute then conducted one-on-one interviews with single mothers. These connections were facilitated through external stakeholders who had experience directly working with single mothers. The interviewers asked questions about challenges faced in supporting their households and

10 METHODOLOGY

children, supports (such as programs or policies) that have been helpful, and recommendations for policymakers. The interviews were conducted to ensure that the first-person perspectives of single mothers were represented during our reporting. The Urban Institute interviewed six single mothers across the United States. The interviews were held via Zoom and each participant was offered a \$40 incentive for the 30-minute duration of that interview. In addition to the single-mother interviews, the Urban Institute conducted one group interview with case managers who work directly with single mothers. The interview asked similar questions to the single-mother interviews. Each participant was offered a \$40 incentive for the 30-minute duration of the interview.

METHODOLOGY 11

Special Consideration for Diverse Single-Mother Families

Single mothers face barriers to economic mobility that can be compounded by other characteristics. In building policies that support families, including but not limited to those headed by single mothers, differences across families may require **targeted policies and tailored strategies**. Here, we look at how three complex identities—single mothers of color, including Black and Hispanic mothers, single mothers with a disabled child, and single mothers involved in the criminal legal system—intersect with challenges faced broadly by single mothers, and why these contexts should be considered when developing policies and programs.

Single Mothers of Color

While 21 percent of all mothers were single mothers in 2023, 47 percent of Black mothers and 25 percent of Hispanic mothers were single mothers.

Although single parenthood in the US is fairly common among women of all racial and ethnic backgrounds, women of color are more likely to be single mothers. Women of color, especially Black women, have long been the target of stigmatizing narratives about single parenthood. These narratives have distracted from the realities of the additional barriers that women of color face in the US because of structural racism.

Moreover, a growing body of research suggests that other factors like employment, education, and immigrant status may have more impact on child poverty than household structure,³ countering the common narrative that high rates of single motherhood among Black families is the cause of higher child poverty. Further, research shows that marriage does not provide the same socioeconomic benefits to Black families as white families,⁴ providing additional evidence that policies focusing on addressing the root causes of disparities in poverty and economic mobility are critical, rather than emphasizing marriage as a solution.

Policy Considerations

Policies that work to address the distinct wealth gap between white households and households of color and reduce disparities in education and employment outcomes are critical for reducing the gaps in

well-being between single mothers of color and their white counterparts. Several policy levers cited throughout the document, such as expanding the child tax credit, increasing financial inclusion, and increasing the minimum wage, would not only improve economic mobility for single mothers overall but have also been shown to reduce racial and ethnic disparities. Other policy levers, such as expanding access to individual development accounts and baby bonds, can have more significant impact on disparities if they target and prioritize single mothers of color.

Single Mother Households with a Disabled Child

Single mothers are more likely than other household types to be raising a child with a disability. Households with a disabled child are more likely to experience financial and material hardship, including food insecurity. Single mothers with a disabled child may experience challenges balancing employment with caregiving, and disabled children may require complex child care arrangements that are difficult to find and

About 1 in 6 families with married parents contained one or more members with disabilities, versus almost 1 in 4 households with single mothers.

maintain.⁷ Mothers also contend with stigma associated with disability and struggle to communicate the value of their child in a society that often discounts and devalues individuals with disabilities.⁸

Policy Considerations

Ensuring safe and reliable access to appropriate child care is a critical policy lever to support single mothers with a disabled child. Policy levers focused on improving job quality are also key, given the increased need for flexibility. Finally, mothers with a disabled child are also more likely to rely on public assistance, emphasizing the importance of policy levers that expand accessibility and reduce churn (especially in Medicaid, Supplemental Security Income, and school-based supports).

Single Mothers involved in the Criminal Legal System

Nearly 60 percent of women in federal or state prisons have at least one minor child. Parental incarceration has significant impacts on children's development and well-being. Unfortunately, incarceration of women, including many who are parents, has risen dramatically over the last few decades. According to the Sentencing Project, between 1980 and 2022, the number of incarcerated women increased almost six times, from a total of 26,326 in 1980 to 180,684 in 2022. Nearly 60

percent of women in federal or state prisons have at least one minor child.¹¹

Parental incarceration is one of the events considered an "adverse childhood experience" (ACE), which are associated with poorer health outcomes later in life.¹² Incarceration can be particularly traumatic for both single mothers and their children. Strategies to support parent-child bonding and communication during incarceration may help buffer the negative impacts on both mothers and children.¹³

Policy Considerations

Returning citizens reenter society with limited savings and a harder time accessing quality jobs, ¹⁴ making policy levers related to building wealth and increasing job quality especially important.

Targeting these policies toward returning citizens can help reduce disparities in material and economic hardship. Moreover, it is critical to ensure returning mothers have the appropriate transition resources, such as pregnant and postpartum care if needed, counseling, reentry assistance, maternal-infant bonding opportunities, and preventive programs, as outlined in the widely supported Justice for Incarcerated Moms Act. ¹⁵

Notes

- ¹ Gretchen Livingston, "The Changing Profile of Unmarried Parents" (Washington DC: Pew Research Center, 2018), https://www.pewresearch.org/social-trends/2018/04/25/the-changing-profile-of-unmarried-parents/.
- ² Daniel Patrick Moynihan, "The Negro Family: The Case for National Action" (Washington DC: U.S. Department of Labor, 1965), https://web.stanford.edu/~mrosenfe/Moynihan's%20The%20Negro%20Family.pdf.
- Regina S. Baker, "Ethno-Racial Variation in Single Motherhood Prevalences and Penalties for Child Poverty in the United States, 1995–2018," The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science 702, no. 1 (2022): 20–36, https://doi.org/10.1177/00027162221120759.

- Deadric T Williams and Regina S Baker, "Family Structure, Risks, and Racial Stratification in Poverty," Social Problems 68, no. 4 (2021): 964–85, https://doi.org/10.1093/socpro/spab018; Dorothy A. Brown, The Whiteness of Wealth: How the Tax System Impoverishes Black Americans—and How We Can Fix It (New York, New York: Crown, 2021), https://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=-nJkEAAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&pg=PA3&ots=FJ2NFl6rtw&sig=VpiV4QKSaQrboPJLeE2OF9au4jc#v=onepage&q&f=f alse.
- ⁵ Barbara M. Altman and Debra L. Blackwell, "Disability in U.S. Households, 2000–2010: Findings from the National Health Interview Survey," Family Relations 63, no. 1 (2014): 20–38, https://doi.org/10.1111/fare.12044.
- ⁶ Rajan Sonik et al., "Food Insecurity in U.S. Households That Include Children With Disabilities," Exceptional Children 83, no. 1 (2016): 42–57, https://doi.org/10.1177/0014402916651847.
- Nancy E. Reichman, Hope Corman, and Kelly Noonan, "Impact of Child Disability on the Family," Maternal and Child Health Journal 12, no. 6 (2007): 679–83, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10995-007-0307-z.
- ⁸ Gareth M. Thomas, "Dis-Mantling Stigma: Parenting Disabled Children in an Age of 'Neoliberal-Ableism," The Sociological Review 69, no. 2 (2021): 451–67, https://doi.org/10.1177/0038026120963481.
- Nancy E. Reichman, Hope Corman, and Kelly Noonan, "Effects of Child Health on Sources of Public Support," Southern Economic Journal 73, no. 1 (2006): 136–56, https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2325-8012.2006.tb00762.x.
- ¹⁰ Kristen M. Budd, "Incarcerated Women and Girls" (Washington DC: The Sentencing Project, 2024), https://www.sentencingproject.org/fact-sheet/incarcerated-women-and-girls/.
- Laura M. Maruschak, "Parents in Prison and Their Minor Children" (Washington DC: U.S. Department of Justice, 2021), https://bjs.ojp.gov/content/pub/pdf/pptmcspi16st.pdf.
- ¹² Vincent J Felitti et al., "Relationship of Childhood Abuse and Household Dysfunction to Many of the Leading Causes of Death in Adults," American Journal of Preventive Medicine 14, no. 4 (1998): 245–58, https://doi.org/10.1016/S0749-3797(98)00017-8.
- Julie Poehlmann, "Incarcerated Mothers' Contact With Children, Perceived Family Relationships, and Depressive Symptoms.," Journal of Family Psychology 19, no. 3 (2005): 350–57, https://doi.org/10.1037/0893-3200.19.3.350.; Bryce Peterson et al., "Model Practices for Parents in Prisons and Jails: Reducing Barriers to Family Connections" (Washington DC: Bureau of Justice Assistance and the National Institute of Corrections, 2019), https://s3.amazonaws.com/static.nicic.gov/Library/033094.pdf..
- Leah Wang, "Both Sides of the Bars: How Mass Incarceration Punishes Families" (Northampton, Massachusetts: Prison Policy Initiative, 2022), https://www.prisonpolicy.org/blog/2022/08/11/parental_incarceration/..
- "Justice for Incarcerated Moms Act Endorsements" (Washington DC: Black Maternal Health Caucus, n.d.), https://drive.google.com/file/d/1k1cX0a_s_juyt03BKvzlfnRWKOfBKHQu/view.; Ayanna Pressley and Cory Booker, "The Momnibus: Justice for Incarcerated Moms Act," Pub. L. No. H.R.3344 (2023), https://blackmaternalhealthcaucus-underwood.house.gov/momnibus-justice-incarcerated-moms-act..

Special Considerations for Mixed-Status Families

Immigration status can compound barriers to economic mobility faced by single mothers, and how each mother's background intersects with the various policy levers listed in this document should carefully be considered.

Who Are Mixed-Status Immigrant Families?

As of 2022, the number of undocumented immigrants in the US is estimated to be 11.7 million.¹ Although immigration between 2022 and 2023 significantly increased, the overall estimate is still below that reported in 2008. About 70 percent of these households are mixed status—in other words, an estimated 8.5 million undocumented residents are living in households with US citizens and other residents with legal status.²

The number of mixed-status families led by a single parent is hard to estimate, but children in immigrant families more broadly are more likely to live with married parents than nonimmigrant families. However, one in four children in immigrant families live in a single-parent household, emphasizing the importance of considering these households in policy conversations.³ Mixed-status families are especially important to focus on because they experience higher rates of material hardship; in 2021, about half (46.2 percent) of adults in mixed status families reported food insecurity, and over half (56.4 percent) of adults in mixed-status families experienced at least one form of material hardship (including food insecurity, paying bills, and paying rent).⁴

State-Level Policy Examples for Immigrant Inclusion

Negative rhetoric and misinformation about immigrant and noncitizen families skyrocketed during the 2024 presidential election, and the current federal policy climate is unfriendly toward immigrant families and disproportionately enforcement oriented.⁵ However, many state-level policies include immigrant-inclusive laws to varying degrees.⁶ While not an exhaustive list, some key examples of state innovation include the following:

- Health coverage. As of May 2024, 31 states have expanded Medicaid coverage to lawfully residing pregnant immigrant women subject to the five-year waiting period, and critically, 24 states and DC provide pregnancy coverage regardless of immigration status through CHIP.⁷ This access increases prenatal care utilization⁸ and better infant outcomes.⁹ Further, as of January 2024, 4 states and DC provide state-funded Medicaid-like coverage to all adults, including noncitizens.¹⁰
- Drivers' licenses. Sixteen states and DC allow residents to get drivers' licenses regardless of immigration status, and also ensure data privacy by limiting disclosure of this information to the department of motor vehicles.¹¹ Implementation of this policy has been associated with improvements in birth outcomes, as access to drivers' licenses may reduce stress and increases access to financial and health care resources.¹²
- Tax credits. As of December 2023, 10 states and DC allow filers to use an individual taxpayer identification number (ITIN) to claim their state earned income tax credit (EITC), and 10 states have done the same for their state child tax credit (CTC); both key economic mobility levers for single mothers.¹³
- Nutrition program benefits. Six states provide some state-only nutrition assistance (similar to SNAP EBT) to certain noncitizens. ¹⁴
- Workers' rights and wage protections. Colorado passed key safety standards and protections for all agricultural workers,¹⁵ and New York led the way in providing funds for lost income during the COVID-19 pandemic for excluded workers.¹⁶

Special Considerations for Mixed-Status Immigrant Families That May Impact Reach of Policy

While notable state-level progress is evident, understanding the full reach of these policies is essential for identifying the major barriers encountered by single mothers in mixed-status households.

Program Eligibility and the Chilling Effect

At the federal level, immigrant adults, excluding those with refugee-like statuses and those that have spent five years with a green card or other status, are largely ineligible for safety net programs including CHIP, SSI, TANF, SNAP, and so on (notably, WIC is available to all adults regardless of immigration

status).¹⁷ However, undocumented immigrants and even legal immigrants are often deterred from utilizing benefit programs that they or their family members *are eligible for* due to immigration-related concerns, confusion about eligibility, exposure to immigration authorities, and possible deportation of self or family member. Further, communities contend with fears of public charge rules and the related chilling effect, which refers to the phenomenon where immigrant families avoid public programs. In 2023, nearly one in four adults in mixed-status families avoided safety net programs due to green card concerns. In addition, over one in seven adults in immigrant families with children avoided safety net programs due to similar concerns.¹⁸

Many states and localities make programs available to families despite federal restrictions. Further, US-citizen children are often eligible even if other family members are ineligible. Thus, passing more inclusive safety net policy must be complemented by concerted efforts to encourage participation for eligible family members, especially since many mixed status households include US citizen children. Increasing resources for community-based organizations working with immigrant families can support outreach and efforts to dispel myths.

Filing Taxes without a Social Security Number (SSN)

Households led by undocumented immigrants paid \$75.6 billion dollars in taxes in 2022, including \$46.6 billion in federal taxes and \$29 billion in state taxes. ¹⁹ At least 50 percent of households with undocumented immigrants currently file income tax returns using individual tax identification numbers (ITINs), and many who do not file income tax returns still have taxes deducted from their paychecks.²⁰ This is an important consideration for tax benefits for which households may be eligible, particularly the earned income tax credit (EITC) and child tax credit (CTC); see the Tax section for more details.

Discrimination

Experiences with discrimination based on immigration status can have negative effects on both physical and mental well-being: 21

- Safety net. Almost half (47 percent) of adults in immigrant families reported difficulty interacting with safety net staff, such as judgment and being treated unfairly.²²
- Workplace. More than half of employed Black (56 percent) and Hispanic (55 percent) immigrants say they have faced discrimination at work. Asian immigrants are also more likely than white immigrants to report workplace discrimination (44 percent vs. 31 percent).

- Criminal justice. Nearly four in ten (38 percent) Black immigrants say they have been treated unfairly by the police compared with people born in the US.
- Treatment in society. In addition, about a third of Black (35 percent) and Hispanic (31 percent) immigrants, and a quarter (27 percent) of Asian immigrants, report receiving worse treatment than people born in the US in a store or restaurant; fewer white immigrants say this (16 percent).²³
- Hostility. Hostility is also an issue, as a third (33 percent) of immigrants say they have been told that they should "go back to where they came from."²⁴

Language Access

Language barriers (including a lack of ASL services) can pose significant obstacles to accessing key benefits; information about programs, such as on applications and on program websites, are often limited in languages other than English or Spanish. For example, a recent study on SNAP language access found that 15 state SNAP agencies only translated documents into Spanish, and not any other language.²⁵

Approximately 68 million people in the United States speak a language other than English at home, and of those, 8.2 percent speak English less than very well and therefore would meet HHS's definition of limited English proficiency (LEP), as they do not speak English as their preferred language and have a limited ability to read, write, speak, or understand English. ²⁶

In 2000, Executive Order 13166 was passed, requiring each federal agency to create a federally conducted LEP plans,²⁷ but state and local responses in creating their own language access laws have varied. Key ongoing barriers include diversity of language needs and limited non-Spanish language resources, low awareness of available multilingual resources, and shortages of linguistically competent staff.²⁸ Some recommended practices include the following:²⁹

- Ensure federal programs have guidance on compliance with agency-level language access requirements to avoid variation in implementation.
- Dedicate staff to coordinate language access efforts at the agency level.
- Provide sufficient resources for agencies' civil rights offices to conduct investigations into failures to provide language access.

 Offer reimbursement for language services in coverage programs like Medicare, improving quality of language access by funding community review of translated materials, and use standardized words for translation across programs.³⁰

Notes

- ¹ Ariel G. Ruiz Soto, Julia Gelatt, and Jennifer Van Hook, "Diverse Flows Drive Increase in U.S. Unauthorized Immigrant Population" (Washington DC: Migration Policy Institute, 2024), https://www.migrationpolicy.org/news/us-unauthorized-population-diversifying.
- Matthew Lisiecki and Gerard Apruzzese, "Proposed 2024 Mass Deportation Program Would Socially and Economically Devastate American Families" (New York, New York: Center for Migration Studies, 2024), https://cmsny.org/publications/2024-mass-deportation-program-devastate-american-families-101024/.
- ³ "Child Well-Being in Single-Parent Families" (Baltimore, Maryland: Annie E. Casey Foundation, 2024), https://www.aecf.org/blog/child-well-being-in-single-parent-families.
- Diana Guelespe, Paola Echave, and Dulce Gonzalez, "Mixed-Status Immigrant Families Disproportionately Experienced Material Hardships in 2021" (Washington DC: Urban Institute, 2023), https://www.urban.org/research/publication/mixed-status-immigrant-families-disproportionatelyexperienced-material.
- 5 Shannon Schumacher, Alex Montero, and Liz Hamel, "Misinformation About Immigrants in the 2024 Presidential Election" (San Francisco, California: KFF, 2024), https://www.kff.org/health-misinformation-and-trust/poll-finding/misinformation-about-immigrants-in-the-2024-presidential-election/.
- 6 "State Laws and Policies on Access to Higher Education for Immigrants" (Los Angeles, California: National Immigration Law Center, 2024), https://www.nilc.org/resources/toolkit-higher-education-for-immigrant-students/#map.; Eric Figueroa and Iris Hinh, "More States Adopting Inclusive Policies for Immigrants," (Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, 2022), https://www.cbpp.org/blog/more-states-adopting-inclusive-policies-for-immigrants; "Driver's Licenses" (Los Angeles, California: National Immigration Law Center, 2023), https://www.nilc.org/work/drivers-licenses/.
- ⁷ Tricia Brooks et al., "A Look at Medicaid and CHIP Eligibility, Enrollment, and Renewal Policies During the Unwinding of Continuous Enrollment and Beyond" (San Francisco, California: KFF, 2024), https://www.kff.org/report-section/a-look-at-medicaid-and-chip-eligibility-enrollment-and-renewal-policiesduring-the-unwinding-of-continuous-enrollment-and-beyond-report/.
- Jonathan Drewry et al., "The Impact of the State Children's Health Insurance Program's Unborn Child Ruling Expansions on Foreign-Born Latina Prenatal Care and Birth Outcomes, 2000–2007," Maternal and Child Health Journal 19, no. 7 (2015): 1464–71, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10995-014-1650-5.
- Jonas J. Swartz et al., "Expanding Prenatal Care to Unauthorized Immigrant Women and the Effects on Infant Health," Obstetrics & Gynecology 130, no. 5 (2017): 938–45, https://doi.org/10.1097/AOG.000000000002275.
- Dulce Gonzalez, Jennifer M. Haley, and Sofia Hinojosa, "State-Led Health Insurance Coverage Expansions for Noncitizens" (Washington DC: Urban Institute, 2024), https://www.urban.org/research/publication/state-led-health-insurance-coverage-expansions-noncitizens.

- Friedland, Joan. "How ICE Uses Driver's License Photos and DMV Databases." Washington DC: National Immigration Law Center, 2019. https://www.nilc.org/articles/how-ice-uses-drivers-license-photos-and-dmv-databases/.
- ¹² Margot Moinester and Kaitlyn K. Stanhope, "Extending Driver's Licenses to Undocumented Immigrants: Comparing Perinatal Outcomes Following This Policy Shift," Journal of Health and Social Behavior 65, no. 3 (2024): 324–39, https://doi.org/10.1177/00221465241230839.
- ¹³ Aravind Boddupalli and Luisa Godinez-Puig, "A Social Safety Net Repair: Delivering State Tax Benefits to Immigrant Families" (Washington DC: Tax Policy Center, 2024), https://taxpolicycenter.org/publications/social-safety-net-repair-delivering-state-tax-benefits-immigrant-families.
- ¹⁴ "SNAP Eligibility for Non-Citizens" (Washington DC: U.S. Department of Agriculture, n.d.), https://www.fns.usda.gov/snap/recipient/eligibility/non-citizen.
- ¹⁵ Jessie Danielson et al., "Agricultural Workers' Right," Pub. L. No. SB21- 087 (2021), https://leg.colorado.gov/bills/sb21-087.
- "Excluded Workers Fund" (New York State Department of Labor, 2021), https://dol.ny.gov/system/files/documents/2022/01/nys-ewf-whitepaper-november21_01-26-22_0.pdf.
- Valerie Lacarte, "Explainer: Immigrants and the Use of Public Benefits in the United States" (Washington DC: Migration Policy Institute, 2024), https://www.migrationpolicy.org/content/immigrants-public-benefits-us.
- Dulce Gonzalez et al., "Mixed-Status Families and Immigrant Families with Children Continued Avoiding Safety Net Programs in 2023" (Washington DC: Urban Institute, 2024), https://www.urban.org/research/publication/mixed-status-families-and-immigrant-families-children-continued-avoiding.
- ¹⁹ Carl Davis, Marco Guzman, and Emma Sifre, "Tax Payments by Undocumented Immigrants" (Washington DC: Institute on Taxation and Economic Policy, 2024), https://itep.org/undocumented-immigrants-taxes-2024/.
- Lisa Christensen Gee, Matthew Gardner, and Meg Wiehe, "Undocumented Immigrants' State & Local Tax Contributions" (Washington DC: Institute on Taxation and Economic Policy, 2016), http://www.itep.org/pdf/immigration2016.pdf.
- ²¹ Magdalena Szaflarski and Shawn Bauldry, "The Effects of Perceived Discrimination on Immigrant and Refugee Physical and Mental Health," in Advances in Medical Sociology, ed. Reanne Frank, vol. 19 (Emerald Publishing Limited, 2019), 173–204, https://doi.org/10.1108/S1057-629020190000019009.
- Hamutal Bernstein et al., "Immigrant Families Faced Multiple Barriers to Safety Net Programs in 2021" (Washington DC: Urban Institute, 2022), https://www.urban.org/research/publication/immigrant-families-faced-multiple-barriers-safety-net-programs-2021.
- "Immigrants Overwhelmingly Say They and Their Children Are Better Off in the US, But Many Also Report Substantial Discrimination and Challenges, a New KFF/Los Angeles Times Survey Reveals" (San Francisco, California: KFF, 2023), https://www.kff.org/racial-equity-and-health-policy/press-release/immigrants-overwhelmingly-say-they-and-their-children-are-better-off-in-the-us-but-many-also-report-substantial-discrimination-and-challenges-a-new-kff-los-angeles-times-survey-reveals/.
- ²⁴ "Immigrants Overwhelmingly Say They and Their Children Are Better Off in the US."
- ²⁵ Rachel Brooks et al., "SNAP Language Access Study" (Washington DC: Mathematica, 2024), https://www.fns.usda.gov/research/snap/language-access.
- ²⁶ "Language Access Plan" (Washington DC: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2023), https://www.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/language-access-plan-2023.pdf.

- ²⁷ "Language Access Plans" (Washington DC: Limited English Proficiency, 2024), https://www.lep.gov/language-access-plans.
- ²⁸ Hamutal Bernstein et al., "Supporting North Carolina's Immigrant Families" (Washington DC: Urban Institute, 2023), https://www.urban.org/research/publication/supporting-north-carolinas-immigrant-families.
- ²⁹ Jacob Hofstetter and Margie McHugh, "Expanding Language Access in Federally Supported Programs: Practical Solutions for Persistent Problems" (Washington DC: Migration Policy Institute, 2024), https://www.migrationpolicy.org/research/language-access-federally-supported-programs.
- ³⁰ Ben D'Avanzo and Chiraayu Gosrani, "Reducing Barriers, Improving Outcomes: Using Federal Opportunities to Expand Health Care Access for Individuals with Limited English Proficiency" (Los Angeles, California: National Immigration Law Center, 2023), https://www.nilc.org/resources/expanding-health-care-access-for-individuals-with-limited-english-proficiency/.

Affordable and Accessible Child Care

Above all else, access to affordable, reliable, and safe child care helps single mothers achieve economic mobility. Child care is a key work support—it allows parents to work or to seek job training or further education, and also supports healthy child development. Single mothers are more likely to rely on child care, as they may not have a spouse to rely on for caregiving. However, child care is notoriously unaffordable. The national average cost of child care for

Only 15 percent of eligible children receive the child care subsidy, as insufficient funding requires states to prioritize which eligible children can receive the benefit.

2023 was \$11,582. This would take 32 percent of a single parent with children's median household income to afford. Moreover, single parents are more likely to work jobs with nontraditional hours, especially single parents of color, which is not reflected in most formal child care options. Informal child care options such as family, friends, and neighbors are key supports for single parents, but are not always included in the federal child care subsidy program or the federal food program (Child and Adult Care Food Program, or CACFP).

The Child Care and Development Fund (CCDF) is the primary federal program supporting access to affordable child care for low-income parents, serving roughly 800,000 families and more than 1.3 million children under 13.7 Research suggests access to subsidies are associated with positive results, including higher rates of employment and full-time employment among single mothers⁸ and increasing financial well-being and savings among single parents.⁹ Moreover, increasing spending on the CCDF program was found to increase employment rates of eligible mothers.¹⁰ However, only 15 percent of eligible children receive the benefit under federal rules.¹¹

The value of child care is felt by all; it's not a single parent issue, it's an everyone issue.

—Policy Matters Ohio

Below, we highlight recommendations sourced directly from peer organizations and experts in the field, and provide context for how these levers can impact single mothers' economic mobility. Other child care programs, such as Head Start, Early Head Start, and state prekindergarten programs, are not included because they often only cover care for part of the day or during the school year and cover a relatively narrow age range, so we instead focus on options that are more broadly available to support parental work. Finally, working mothers, including single mothers, are drivers of the caregiving industry, ¹² and face high rates of poverty. ¹³ We address recommendations around improving job quality for the early child care workforce and other sector-based strategies in the Job Quality section.

Special Considerations for Student Parents

Finding and maintaining child care can be particularly challenging when a single mother is also pursuing educational opportunities. As of 2020, 45 percent of the 3.1 million student-parent undergraduates are single mothers. Single mother student parents are uniquely burdened with the need to locate child care given the disconnect between their schedules and the child care market's availability. Affording child care is also difficult, as state variation in CCDF eligibility means student parents may not be prioritized in receiving assistance. Finally, many states do not consider education as meeting the work requirements to access CCDF funding. As a result, single parents must work an additional minimum number of hours per week in addition to their studies to qualify for funding. According to data from the 2020 National Postsecondary Student Aid Study, 67 percent of single mother students work at least 20 hours per week in nonwork study jobs. All in all, these barriers create additional financial burden and may impede student parents' ability to complete their education successfully.

TABLE 1
Child Care Policy Levers

Policy recommendation	Description	Level
Increase funding for child care subsidies	Ensure child care subsidy program is sufficiently funded at the federal level to serve all eligible families and to pay child care providers the amount needed to participate in the subsidy system and provide quality care	Federal
Increase eligibility for child care subsidies	Increase federal cap for household eligibility (currently 85 percent of state median income) in tandem with full funding, to enable increasing state caps in states with more restrictive thresholds.	Federal/state
Support access to nontraditional hour care	Offer incentives to formal child care providers to extend hours to support families who require flexibility in the hours child care is provided. This includes families who need to	State/local

Policy		
recommendation	Description	Level
	work early or late, need part-time care, and those that need drop-in care services.	
	Ensure that parents can use subsidy funds to pay family, friends, and relatives, and other home-based child care providers who may be exempt from state child care licensing rules but may best meet some parent's needs for child care during nontraditional or irregular work schedules.	
Increase resources for student parents	Fully fund CCDF (as recommended above) to allow states to serve all eligible families, encourage states to establish more flexible and inclusive CCDF eligibility policies for student parents that counts college education towards work requirements, increase near and on-campus child care options, increase subsidies for those with nontraditional schedules (see above), and promote dependent care allowances and grants under financial aid. ¹⁷	Federal/state/local

Source: Authors' analysis of policy levers.

Policy Details

Below are detailed summaries of how each policy lever can impact single mothers.

Ensure the Federal Child Care Subsidy Program Is Sufficiently Funded

Common arguments against recommendations to increase funding include concerns that the price of child care could rise; however, investment in child care is an investment in infrastructure, and increasing funding for subsidies will ensure more families can afford child care.

SCALE OF IMPACT

If fully funded for every eligible family to receive child care subsidies under *current* federal eligibility guidelines, an estimated 800,000 additional families would receive the subsidy, and an estimated 270,000 mothers could start working.¹⁸

EVIDENCE

A fully funded CCDF program at current levels would result in an estimated 3 percent reduction in number of children living in poverty.¹⁹

Increase Eligibility for Child Care Subsidies

Federal requirements set the income eligibility cap at 85 percent of the state median income (SMI), but this varies by state (with the lowest at 40 percent of the SMI), partially as a result of insufficient federal funding.²⁰ Raising this federal cap in conjunction with fully funding the program (policy lever 1) would allow states to raise their eligibility levels to the cap, and to serve all eligible families, thus significantly expanding CCDF access.

SCALE OF IMPACT

The states²¹ with the lowest cutoffs include New Jersey (40 percent of the SMI), Indiana (40 percent), Ohio (41 percent), Nevada (41 percent), Iowa (41.5 percent), and Michigan (43 percent). On average, states have capped eligibility at 62 percent.

EVIDENCE

The CCDF program can lead to increased economic mobility for single mothers (via higher employment rates²² and wealth-building²³). Increasing eligibility will ensure more single mothers have these economic growth opportunities.

Support Access to Nontraditional Hour Care via Incentives and Supporting Home-Based Providers

Single mothers, particularly single mothers of color, are overrepresented in jobs with nonstandard work hours.²⁴ However it can be challenging to find child care that operates outside of a traditional 8 to 5 weekday schedule, as well as care for changing work schedules. Child care centers usually do not operate during these times, and need full-time enrollment to function.

Research suggests a combination of strategies could be effective:²⁵

- Incentivize formal child care providers to extend their hours earlier and later in the day, which is an option that could help parents whose work hours start earlier or end later than the traditional workday.²⁶
- Ensure that states use the flexibility provided under federal CCDF law to use child care subsidies to pay for legal license-exempt home-based caregivers such as relatives or friends, either in the child's home or the caregiver's home. Research suggests that families may prefer these providers when it comes to evening, overnight, or early morning care.²⁷ However, many

states do not support these caregivers in their subsidy programs, despite being allowed under federal law.²⁸

SCALE OF IMPACT

Among the roughly 5 million children under age 6 that have parents working nontraditional schedules, about half (52 percent) are headed by a single parent²⁹ and an estimated 11.5 million children receive care from legal license-exempt home-based providers.³⁰

EVIDENCE

Along with the benefits associated with access to child care subsidies, increased stable access to affordable child care has been associated with positive impacts on mothers' labor force participation and work hours.³¹

Increase Resources for Student Parents

Single mothers face a myriad of barriers when pursuing higher education, even though obtaining a college degree has large positive economic impacts on them and their children in the long term.³² It is imperative that single mothers are informed about and have access to resources to assist them in their educational pursuits. Key policy levers include the following:³³

- Expand funding for CCDF (policy lever 1 above) to ensure that states have the resources to serve these families without having to take resources away from other families, encouraging states to prioritize these families, and to support less restrictive eligibility policies. While getting subsidies for educational activities is allowed under federal CCDF law, states vary in the extent to which they prioritize and serve this population in their subsidy programs³⁴ and under what circumstances.³⁵ In particular, not all states count college education toward the work requirement. In addition, ensuring that states use the flexibility allowed them under federal law to use CCDF funds to pay relatives and other license-exempt home-based providers can support access for student parents, whose schedules mean their needs are similar to those described above for parents working nontraditional schedules.
- Increase awareness of and funding for on-campus child care options via the Department of Education's Child Care Access Means Parents in School (CCAMPIS) program, which had about 4,200 student parents on a waiting list as of 2017³⁶ and did not accept new college applicants in 2024. ³⁷

Encourage financial aid offices at the institutional level to increase awareness of dependent care allowances is a stated goal of the GAO. These allowances allow parenting students to increase their financial aid allowance from universities to help pay for child care related expenses during periods of education. However, many universities do not inform their students of its availability or lack advertisement on their websites.³⁸ Increasing grants for dependent care costs would also fill in gaps where allowances are insufficient.

SCALE OF IMPACT

Only one in eight (13 percent, 110,000 out of an estimated 848,000) student-parent families receive CCDF. A hypothetical policy expansion that provided sufficient funding for subsidies and expanded eligibility for types of care in 2021 was simulated and found to increase the number of student parents using the program to roughly 1.1 million, a 33 percent increase from 2018, and increase the number receiving subsidies to an estimated 485,000, four times as many as in 2018.³⁹

EVIDENCE

The hypothetical CCDF policy expansion was expected to result in a quarter-million more college enrollees and 20 percent more graduates, increasing annual earnings and decrease child poverty by four percentage points.⁴⁰ Overall, increased resources for student parents could increase degree completion, lifetime earnings, and social inclusion while decreasing the financial burden of a college education on single parents.⁴¹

Notes

- ¹ "Early Child Care in Single-Parent and Two-Parent Families: 2019" (Washington DC: National Center for Education Statistics, 2021), https://nces.ed.gov/pubs2021/2021005/index.asp.
- 2 "Child Care at a Standstill: Price and Landscape Analysis" (Arlington, Virginia: ChildCare Aware of America, 2023), https://www.childcareaware.org/thechildcarestandstill/.
- Diane Schilder et al., "What Child Care Arrangements Do Parents Want during Nontraditional Hours?" (Washington DC: Urban Institute, 2022), https://www.urban.org/research/publication/what-child-care-arrangements-do-parents-want-during-nontraditional-hours.
- Michelle Brady, "Gluing, Catching and Connecting: How Informal Childcare Strengthens Single Mothers' Employment Trajectories," Work, Employment and Society 30, no. 5 (2016): 821–37, https://doi.org/10.1177/0950017016630259.
- Kelly Dwyer and Gina Adams, "License-Exempt Home-Based Child Care Providers and the Child Care and Development Fund" (Washington DC: Urban Institute, 2024),

- https://www.urban.org/research/publication/license-exempt-home-based-child-care-providers-and-child-care-and-development.
- ⁶ Gina Adams, Catherine Kuhns, and Fernando Hernandez-Lepe, "Untapped Potential: License-Exempt Home-Based Child Care Providers and the Child and Adult Care Food Program" (Washington DC: Urban Institute, 2023), https://www.urban.org/research/publication/untapped-potential-license-exempt-home-based-child-care-providers.
- ⁷ "FY 2021 Preliminary Data Table 1 Average Monthly Adjusted Number of Families and Children Served" (Washington DC: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2024), https://www.acf.hhs.gov/occ/data/fy-2021-preliminary-data-table-1.
- April Crawford, "The Impact of Child Care Subsidies on Single Mothers' Work Effort," Review of Policy Research 23, no. 3 (2006): 699–711, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1541-1338.2006.00224.x.
- Nicole D. Forry, "The Impact of Child Care Subsidies on Low-Income Single Parents: An Examination of Child Care Expenditures and Family Finances," Journal of Family and Economic Issues 30, no. 1 (2009): 43–54, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10834-008-9135-6.
- Maria E. Enchautegui et al., "Effects of the CCDF Subsidy Program on the Employment Outcomes of Low Income Mothers" (Washington DC: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2016), https://aspe.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/private/pdf/253961/EffectsCCSubsidiesMaternalLFPTechnical.pdf.
- Nina Chien, "Factsheet: Estimates of Child Care Subsidy Eligibility & Receipt for Fiscal Year 2021" (Washington DC: Office of Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation, 2024), https://aspe.hhs.gov/reports/child-care-eligibility-fy2021.
- Sarah Jane Glynn and Katie Hamm, "The Economics of Caregiving for Working Mothers" (Washington DC: Center for American Progress, 2019), https://www.americanprogress.org/article/economics-caregiving-working-mothers/.
- ¹³ Caitlin McLean et al., "Early Childhood Workforce Index 2020" (Berkeley, California: University of California, Berkeley, Center for the Study of Child Care Employment, 2020), https://cscce.berkeley.edu/workforce-index-2020/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2021/02/Early-Childhood-Workforce-Index-2020.pdf.
- "The National Postsecondary Student Aid Study (NPSAS)," National center for Education Statistics, n.d., https://nces.ed.gov/surveys/npsas/, see US Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, National Postsecondary Student Aid Study: 2020 Undergraduate Students.
- ¹⁵ Gina Adams, Teresa Derrick-Mills, and Caroline Heller, "Strategies to Meet the Child Care Needs of Low-Income Parents Seeking Education and Training" (Washington DC: Urban Institute, 2016), https://www.urban.org/research/publication/strategies-meet-child-care-needs-low-income-parents-seeking-education-and-training.
- ¹⁶ "The National Postsecondary Student Aid Study (NPSAS).", see US Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, National Postsecondary Student Aid Study: 2020 Undergraduate Students.
- ¹⁷ "More Information Could Help Student Parents Access Additional Federal Student Aid" (Washington DC: U.S. Report to Congressional Requesters, 2019), https://www.gao.gov/products/gao-19-522.
- Linda Giannarelli et al., "What If We Expanded Child Care Subsidies?" (Washington DC: Urban Institute, 2019), https://www.urban.org/research/publication/what-if-we-expanded-child-care-subsidies.
- ¹⁹ Linda Giannarelli et al., "What If We Expanded Child Care Subsidies?"
- ²⁰ "The Child Care and Development Fund (CCDF) Policies Database," n.d., https://ccdf.urban.org.

- 21 "2024 CCDBG State Fact Sheets" (Washington DC: First Five Years Fund, 2024), https://www.ffyf.org/resources/2024/05/2024-ccdbg-state-fact-sheets/.
- ²² April Crawford, "The Impact of Child Care Subsidies on Single Mothers' Work Effort," Review of Policy Research 23, no. 3 (2006): 699–711, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1541-1338.2006.00224.x
- ²³ Forry, "The Impact of Child Care Subsidies on Low-Income Single Parents."
- ²⁴ Leila Morsy and Richard Rothstein, "Parents' Non-Standard Work Schedules Make Adequate Childrearing Difficult" (Washington DC: Economic Policy Institute, 2015), https://www.epi.org/publication/parents-nonstandard-work-schedules-make-adequate-childrearing-difficult-reforming-labor-market-practices-canimprove-childrens-cognitive-and-behavioral-outcomes/.
- ²⁵ Gina Adams et al., "Executive Summary: What Child Care Arrangements Do Parents Want during Nontraditional Hours?" (Washington DC: Urban Institute, 2022), https://www.urban.org/research/publication/executive-summary-what-child-care-arrangements-do-parents-want-during.
- Rachel Wilensky et al., "Expanding Access to Child Care Assistance Opportunities in the Child Care and Development Fund" (Washington DC: The Center for Law and Social Policy, 2024), https://www.clasp.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/06/9.3.2024_Expanding-Access-to-Child-Care-Assistance.pdf.
- ²⁷ Gina Adams et al., "Executive Summary: What Child Care Arrangements Do Parents Want during Nontraditional Hours?" (Washington DC: Urban Institute, 2022), https://www.urban.org/research/publication/executive-summary-what-child-care-arrangements-do-parents-want-during.
- ²⁸ Kelly Dwyer and Gina Adams, "License-Exempt Home-Based Child Care Providers and the Child Care and Development Fund" (Washington DC: Urban Institute, 2024), https://www.urban.org/research/publication/license-exempt-home-based-child-care-providers-and-child-care-and-development.
- ²⁹ Diane Schilder, Cary Lou, and Laura Wagner, "Child Care Use for Young Children during Nontraditional Hours" (Washington DC: Urban Institute, 2023), https://www.urban.org/research/publication/child-care-use-young-children-during-nontraditional-hours.
- ³⁰ Adams, Kuhns, and Hernandez-Lepe, "Untapped Potential: License-Exempt Home-Based Child Care Providers and the Child and Adult Care Food Program."
- ³¹ Taryn W. Morrissey, "Child Care and Parent Labor Force Participation: A Review of the Research Literature," Review of Economics of the Household 15, no. 1 (2017): 1–24, https://doi.org/10.1007/s11150-016-9331-3.
- ³² Theresa Anderson, "What If Mom Went Back to School?" (Washington DC: Urban Institute, 2022), https://www.urban.org/research/publication/what-if-mom-went-back-school.
- ³³ See further strategies here: Theresa Anderson and Autumn R. Green, "Roadmap for Change to Support Pregnant and Parenting Students" (Washington DC: Urban Institute, 2022), https://www.urban.org/research/publication/roadmap-change-support-pregnant-and-parenting-students.
- ³⁴ Semhar Gebrekristos and Gina Adams, "Do Parents Get Child Care Assistance for Education and Training?" (Washington DC: Urban Institute, 2019), https://www.urban.org/research/publication/do-parents-get-child-care-assistance-education-and-training.
- ³⁵ Sarah Minton, Victoria Tran, and Kelly Dwyer, "State Child Care Assistance Policies for Parents in Education and Training" (Washington DC: Urban Institute, 2019), https://www.urban.org/research/publication/state-child-care-assistance-policies-parents-education-and-training.
- ³⁶ "More Information Could Help Student Parents Access Additional Federal Student Aid" (Washington DC: U.S. Report to Congressional Requesters, 2019), https://www.gao.gov/products/gao-19-522.

- ³⁷ "Child Care Access Means Parents in School Program," U.S. Department of Education, n.d., https://www.ed.gov/grants-and-programs/grants-special-populations/economically-disadvantaged-students/child-care-access-means-parents-in-school-program#awarding-legislation.
- ³⁸ "More Information Could Help Student Parents Access Additional Federal Student Aid" (Washington DC: U.S. Report to Congressional Requesters, 2019), https://www.gao.gov/products/gao-19-522.
- ³⁹ Gina Adams et al., "Implications of Providing Child Care Assistance to Parents In Education and Training" (Washington DC: WorkRise, 2022), https://www.workrisenetwork.org/publications/implications-providing-child-care-assistance-parents-education-and-training.
- ⁴⁰ Gina Adams et al., "Implications of Providing Child Care Assistance to Parents In Education and Training."
- ⁴¹ Theresa Anderson, "What If Mom Went Back to School?" (Washington DC: Urban Institute, 2022), https://www.urban.org/research/publication/what-if-mom-went-back-school.

Increased Job Quality

Overrepresentation in the Low-Wage Workforce and Minimum Wage

Access to stable and high-quality employment is critical to the financial stability of single mothers, who are often the primary source of income for their families. However, women are overrepresented in low-quality jobs that are often defined by low wages, inadequate working conditions, and insufficient or no benefits. Twenty-one million adults

1 in 6 women in the US find themselves in low-paying jobs.

work in 40 of the lowest paying jobs, and women make up 64.1 percent of this workforce. These careers include child care, housekeeping, food servers, retail sales, personal services and cashiers, among others. Not surprisingly, one in six women in the US find themselves in low-paying jobs.² This statistic is magnified for women of color: Latina, Native, and Black women in the low-paid workforce are represented in the low-wage workforce at a disproportionate rate.³ Even when controlling for education, Black and Latina women are crowded into low-quality jobs.⁴

The federal minimum wage, \$7.25, hasn't increased since 2009.⁵ However, 30 states (including DC) and several localities have passed higher state or local minimum wages.^{6,7} The federal subminimum tipped wage (\$2.13) is also a challenge; only seven states and Guam have eliminated tipped subminimum wages at the state or territory level.⁸ Washington DC is currently phasing out its subminimum tipped wage and Chicago voted to do so in fall 2023. Tipped wage policy choices are important for single mothers, as women represent two-thirds of the tipped workforce.⁹ Moreover, female tipped workers are at high risk for sexual harassment, and report associating the harassment they experience to dependence on tips.¹⁰

Limited Benefits, Unstable Hours, and Less Advancement in Low-Wage Jobs

While low wages are a core challenge to address, research shows that women rate elements of job quality including job security, benefits, and having control over hours as more important than wages.

Many low-quality jobs require nontraditional working hours (i.e., weekends and evenings), which

impacts child care access and caregiving responsibilities. Further, low-quality jobs often offer limited or no benefits in comparison to other career sectors. ¹² A lack of benefits or lower wages are connected to higher turnover rates and unemployment, ¹³ and some low-wage jobs have increasingly less job security, leading to further instability. ¹⁴

Limited Protections for Workers in Certain Sectors

Certain classes of workers are not afforded the same types of labor protections as other workers, making them particularly vulnerable to exploitation. For example, independent contractors (including "gig" workers) are not covered by the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA), and as such, are not subject to federal minimum wage, overtime rules and unemployment insurance protections. Farmworkers and domestic workers were originally excluded from FLSA. Subsequent policy changes have improved protections for some but not all of these workers. For example, farm workers are excluded from overtime protections, and those on small farms are also not covered by minimum wage provisions. Moreover, independent contractors, domestic workers, and agricultural workers, among other certain groups, are not covered by the National Labor Relations Act (NLRA) and cannot organize into recognized bargaining units to seek better working conditions. Gig work is often used for supplemental income and can sometimes be preferable for single mothers with children given the flexibility it offers.

Lack of Access to Paid Leave

In many industries where single mothers are overrepresented, such as leisure and hospitality, accommodation, and food service, only 10 percent of workers have access to paid leave.

Paid family leave increases women's labor market participation in both the long and short term, with women who had access to paid leave being three to six percentage points more likely to remain in the labor force. ¹⁷ Paid leave also lessens the turnover rate for first-time mothers, as they are more likely to work for the same employer upon returning to work. ¹⁸ Through the Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA), employers with 50+ employees are

federally required to provide *unpaid*, job-protected leave, which typically provides job protection and access to continued health care benefits.¹⁹ However, only 56 percent of employees overall and 43 percent of employees in single-parent households are eligible for FMLA.²⁰ This is due to ineligibility

around hours worked or their worksite being too small, resulting in many single mothers slipping through the cracks and lacking critical job protections.

Thirteen states and DC have implemented paid family and medical leave policies, though not all offer job protection. Experience from these states suggest multiple benefits accrue to children, families, and communities in the form of better health outcomes for child and mother, improved individual household economic outcomes, and lower rates of public benefit use in the first year of a child's life.

A lot of people have not been taught about workforce development, financial literacy, education, what are your goals. When you talk to these ladies, they never thought about.

—Reuben V. Anderson

Sectoral Strategies in the Care Sector

Due to the high concentration of single mothers with low-quality jobs, targeted sectoral strategies may be needed to make meaningful progress in access to better jobs for single-mother households. ²¹ For single mothers, the care sector is both a significant source of employment as well as an important source of work and family supports. Care work can be defined broadly, including occupations in child care, as well as direct personal care in home and health care settings. Although some definitions of care work include higher-wage workers like nurses, physicians and teachers, the greatest concerns for quality of work are among workers in the lower-paid, and often less-protected occupations, such as home care workers in private homes, residential care aides, nursing assistants in nursing homes, nannies, home-based child care providers, and workers in early child care centers. These occupations tend to experience low wages, few benefits, limited control over work scheduling, high turnover and persistent shortages of workers to meet the demand. ²²

TABLE 1
Job Quality Policy Levers

Policy category	Policy recommendation	Description	Level
Wages	Increase the minimum wage at the federal or state levels	Increase the federal minimum wage and encouraging states/localities to pass their own higher minimum wages	Federal/state/local
	Phase out tipped subminimum wages	Phase out tipped subminimum wages	Federal/state/local
	Increase use of scheduling ordinances	Improve workplace scheduling practices so that working women can better plan their lives	Local
Job quality and worker protection	Improve labor protections for certain occupations	Increase access to vital worker protections such as workers compensation, overtime, and organizing rights for excluded workers	Federal/state
	Incentivize growth of good jobs with government procurement procurement	Encourage state and local government use multiple criteria to award contracts (other than "lowest bidder") to incentive better labor practices	State/local
	Expand Paid Family and Medical Leave	Expand paid leave at the federal and state level, and incorporate additional protections for excluded workers	Federal/state
	Prioritize sectoral strategies to improve job quality for jobs often held by single mothers	Prioritize key sectors for policy development across multiple dimensions of job quality, such as the care sector	Federal/state/local

Source: Authors' analysis of policy levers.

Policy Details

Below are detailed summaries of how each policy lever can impact single mothers.

Increase the Minimum Wage at the Federal or State Levels

Thirty states (including DC) and more than 60 localities have passed higher state or local minimum wages.²³

SCALE OF IMPACT

More than two out of three workers earning the minimum wage are women across the US, and in some states, the concentration is even higher. 24

EVIDENCE

Models of a \$15 an hour federal minimum wage find that poverty (as measured by the supplemental poverty measure or SPM) would fall by 2.4 percentage points nationally if there was no subsequent job displacement, lifting 7.6 million people out of poverty. However, the evidence on employment impacts of raising the minimum wage continues to be mixed, as some research suggests higher minimums are associated with some declines in employment or hours worked. Using a "middle of the road" estimate for job displacement, Urban researchers estimate that about 3.2 million workers could lose work for at least part of the year, but average earnings and net resources would increase by \$5,000 and \$3,700, respectively, and SPM poverty would fall by 2.1 percentage points with 6.9 million people being lifted out of poverty.²⁵

Phase Out Tipped Subminimum Wages

More recently, some jurisdictions have begun phasing out tipped subminimum wages. Seven states and Guam have a tipped minimum wage equal to the regular minimum wage, while 27 states have an "inbetween" policy paying tipped employees above \$2.13 but below the state minimum wage.

SCALE OF IMPACT

Women represent nearly 7 in 10 of the more than 4.9 million tipped workforce. Among tipped workers that are women, nearly 3 in 10 have a child. Three in 10 women tipped workers live in or near poverty, double that of all women workers.²⁶

EVIDENCE

Some research suggests that eliminating the tipped wage can increase weekly earnings, although it may affect overall employment in the restaurant industry.²⁷ However, other important effects that support standardizing the minimum wage for both tipped and nontipped workers exist. Proponents of "a one fair wage" strategy for all workers argue that the reliance on employers to make up the required difference between tips and the minimum wage facilitates wage theft on part of employers, particularly given limited enforcement capacity.²⁸ Other research suggests association with tipped work and health outcomes, particularly for women. For example, one study finds that workers subject to the subminimum tipped wage may be at greater risk for low birthweight of children.²⁹ Research also suggests that female tipped workers have greater odds of reporting a depression diagnosis or symptoms relative to women in nonservice work, while there did not appear to be similar effects for men.³⁰

Increase Use of Scheduling Ordinances

Nonstandard work hours impact the ability for single mothers to secure child care,³¹ have sufficient time for their families, and even impact women's ability to schedule health care.³² Low-wage jobs often employ "just-in-time" scheduling practices that afford employees little control of their own schedules.³³ Promising local policy levers include the following: ³⁴

- Right to request laws, which protect employees who want to request schedule changes without retaliation
- Advance notice laws, requiring advance notice and good faith estimates of work schedules
- Pay for reporting to work laws, providing compensation for last-minute work schedule changes
- Right to rest laws, penalizing split-shifts, or working shifts that fall on the same day

SCALE OF IMPACT

A study of low-income families with working mothers in 25 high-child poverty communities across the United States found that 73 percent of mothers worked nonstandard schedules.³⁵

EVIDENCE

One state (OR) and several cities (Chicago, Emeryville, Los Angeles, New York, Philadelphia, San Francisco, and Seattle) have passed various forms of predictive scheduling laws. Evidence finds the California Fair Workweek Ordinance decreased parents' schedule unpredictability and improved well-being. At the employer level, these practices are shown to improve productivity and sales. 37

Improve Labor Protections for Certain Occupations

State-level policy innovation has increased worker protections for some groups. For example, 12 states, DC and a few localities have adopted the Domestic Workers Bill of Rights to improve protections, benefits and transparency for those who work in occupations such as house cleaning, child care and home health care. Some states have moved to give better protections to farm workers, such as access to workers compensation, but protections for farm workers are still very limited. A recent report developed collaboratively by the Urban Institute, the Aspen Institute's Future of Work Initiative, and A Better Balance identifies a mix of strategies and incentives that could help protect individuals in nonstandard work arrangements.

SCALE OF IMPACT

Some excluded worker groups are among the fastest-growing occupations. Domestic workers are projected to grow by 25.3 percent between 2020 and 2030, while other worker occupations are expected to grow by about 7.2 percent.⁴¹ The vast majority of domestic workers are female, and the majority are women of color. Women now make up more than one in every four hired farm workers, a share that has increased significantly since the Great Recession.⁴² Although more men than women have typically worked as independent contractors, recent data show that women's participation is growing faster than men's.⁴³ It is also notable that many low-income individuals may supplement low earnings from other jobs with "gig" or contract work. The fissured nature of the 21st century workplace also means that more jobs that were once a part of the traditional employment structure with greater employment protections may now be contracted out.⁴⁴

EVIDENCE

Worker protections are important in buffering workers from economic shocks, reducing material hardship, and improving health outcomes. For example, individuals who received unemployment insurance were significantly less likely to experience food insecurity, have difficulty with household expenses, fall behind on their mortgage or rent, or report symptoms of anxiety or depression. Worker organizations like unions can help secure better pay and benefits and play an important role in securing workers' legal rights.

Incentivize Growth of Good Jobs with Government Procurement Practices

To create incentives for employers to adopt high-road labor practices, some municipalities and anchor institutions are utilizing competitive contracting criteria. For example, the Good Food Purchasing Program (GFPP) identifies five value categories, including a valued workforce, that institutional purchasers like school systems, city agencies, or other large buyers of food and food services can prioritize in contracting with suppliers and vendors. Several major school systems have adopted GFPP, including those in Austin, Chicago, Cincinnati, Los Angeles, Pittsburgh, and Washington DC. GFPP evaluation criteria for labor range from basic expectations like respecting workers' rights and complying with labor laws to higher-scoring best practices, such as fair labor certifications or unionization. In some cases, state or local contracting law may need to be modified to permit public purchasing units to move away from a singular focus on lowest bidder.

Beyond the food sector, responsible bidder ordinances (RBOs) have been used in the construction sector, which is also an area with high engagement from public sector purchasers. RBOs also encourage a focus on benefits and value, not just cost. One criteria generally included in RBOs is proof of vendor

participation in an apprenticeship program, which can help build skills and open job opportunities in local areas. Women have traditionally participated in construction jobs at much lower rates than men, but apprenticeship programs and targeted federal grants can assist in increasing their access to these pathways.⁴⁹

SCALE OF IMPACT

Food service institutions spend over \$125 billion per year on food.⁵⁰ The \$1.2 trillion Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act (IIJA), passed in 2021, is stimulating significant public sector spending on construction and infrastructure over a five-year period and could offer greater opportunities to emphasize job quality via public contracting. If even a small portion of these investments are used to support better job quality, the impact for workers could be meaningful.

EVIDENCE

- Good Food Purchasing Program. Although evidence on impact is still emerging, the GFPP can not only be utilized to reinforce compliance with labor laws and encourage better labor practices, but it can also serve as a generator of local jobs and economic activity through its value category on local food systems.⁵¹
- Responsible bidder ordinances. One study in Illinois and Indiana found that RBOs increased competition for taxpayer-funded contracts, increased the percentage of contracts awarded to union contractors (which may be more likely to support apprenticeships) and did not affect overall project costs. 52
- Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act. Although not mandatory, the Department of Labor published a Good Jobs Initiative in 2022,⁵³ outlines elements of job quality including recruitment and hiring, benefits, diversity and inclusion, empowerment and representation, job security and working conditions, organizational culture, pay, and skill and career advancement. These tenets of good quality jobs were reflected in the IIJA and states can spend some funding from IIJA on workforce development. ⁵⁴

Expand Paid Family and Medical Leave

At the federal level, a critical policy lever includes creating a national paid family and medical leave insurance program, as outlined in the FAMILY Act, which would ensure nearly universal coverage.⁵⁵ Further levers include expanding the FMLA's definition of a family to include a broader set of relationships, as outlined in the Caring for All Families Act,⁵⁶ emphasizing the need for inclusivity as

family dynamics evolve in the US. States are leading the way in well-designed paid family and medical leave policies that include both wage replacement and job protections.⁵⁷

SCALE OF IMPACT

It is estimated that under the FAMILY Act, 4.1 percent of eligible single-income workers would take leave and receive paid-leave benefits.⁵⁸

EVIDENCE

The FAMILY Act is estimated to reduce poverty by over 16 percent among receiving families.⁵⁹ More generally, access to paid family and medical leave would improve physical and mental health for new parents,⁶⁰ could decrease infant mortality rates by 12 percent, ⁶¹ and improve labor market participation by more than 5 percent in the year of a birth.⁶²

Prioritize Sectoral Strategies to Improve Job Quality for Jobs Often Held by Single Mothers

Sector-focused strategies to improve work are complex, multifaceted, and require engagement of workers, consumers, employers, philanthropy, and government. In the near term, state-level or local efforts to experiment with policy solutions may offer the best laboratory for identifying and refining useful policy changes. The approaches may range from targeted interventions, such as pay equity, to universal approaches, such as the universal care system.

- Pay equity. For example, the District of Columbia is pursuing a pay equity fund⁶³ to bring the earnings of early child care workers in line with those of K-12 educators. In the home care sector, promising interventions include development of worker-owned cooperatives, which can improve employment and earnings outcomes for home care workers. ⁶⁴
- Universal care. Ultimately, many researchers and advocates argue that achieving meaningful improvements in the care sector require stronger public investments in a universal care system that can spread the costs of meeting both the growing demand for care workers and the need for better job quality. 65 Universal care models are important to consider given the widespread and growing need for quality care in an aging population and for families balancing intergenerational care needs. 66

SCALE OF IMPACT

One in 10 working mothers are employed in elementary and secondary education,⁶⁷ and the vast majority of child care workers are women.⁶⁸

EVIDENCE

Evidence from the DC Pay Equity Fund shows improved perceptions of fair pay, increased retention and improved financial well-being and ability to build savings.⁶⁹

Notes

- ¹ "Job Quality" (Paris, France: OECD, n.d.), https://www.oecd.org/en/topics/policy-issues/job-quality.html.
- ² The low-wage workforce can be defined in multiple ways, including as careers with the lowest average wages across industries, or via thresholds, such as the forty lowest-paying jobs (as in the NWLC report).
- Jasmine Tucker and Julie Vogtman, "Hard Work Is Not Enough: Women in Low-Paid Jobs" (Washington DC: National Women's Law Center, 2023), https://nwlc.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/%C6%92.NWLC_Reports_HardWorkNotEnough_LowPaid_2023.pdf.
- ⁴ Ofronama Biu et al., "Job Quality and Race and Gender Equity" (Washington DC: Urban Institute, 2023), https://www.urban.org/research/publication/job-quality-and-race-and-gender-equity.
- ⁵ "History of Changes to the Minimum Wage Law" (Washington DC: U.S. Department of Labor, n.d.), https://www.dol.gov/agencies/whd/minimum-wage/history.
- 6 "State Minimum Wage Laws" (Washington DC: U.S. Department of Labor, 2025), https://www.dol.gov/agencies/whd/minimum-wage/state.
- ⁷ For example, Oregon sections the state into three geographic areas: Portland metro, standard, and non-urban. The Portland metropolitan area has a minimum wage of \$15.95 per hour, standard areas have a wage of \$14.70 per hour, and non-urban areas have \$13.70 per hour. New Jersey approaches minimum wage based on the number of employees or job sector. The basic minimum rate is \$15.13 per hour but the minimum wage rate is \$13.73 per hour for seasonal and employers with less than six employees. Read more here "Oregon Minimum Wage" (Portland, Oregon: Oregon Bureau of Labor & Industries, n.d.), https://www.oregon.gov/boli/workers/pages/minimum-wage.aspx; "New Jersey's Minimum Wage" (Trenton, NJ: New Jersey Department of Labor and Workforce Development, 2024), https://www.nj.gov/labor/wageandhour/assets/PDFs/minimumwage_postcard.pdf.
- 8 "Minimum Wages for Tipped Employees" (Washington DC: U.S. Department of Labor, 2025), https://www.dol.gov/agencies/whd/state/minimum-wage/tipped.
- "The Raise the Wage Act: Boosting Women's Paychecks and Advancing Equal Pay" (Washington DC: National Women's Law Center, 2019), https://nwlc.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/Raise-the-Wage-Act-Boosting-Womens-Pay-Checks-10.22.19.pdf.
- "Take Us Off the Menu: The Impact of Sexual Harassment in the Restaurant Industry" (New York, New York: The Restaurant Opportunities Centers United, 2018), https://rocunited.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/7/2020/02/TakeUsOffTheMenuReport.pdf.

- Molly M. Scott and Batia Katz, "What's Important in a Job? An Analysis of What Matters and for Whom" (Washington DC: Urban Institute, 2021), https://www.urban.org/research/publication/whats-important-job-analysis-what-matters-and-whom.
- "Table 6. Selected Paid Leave Benefits: Access" (Washington DC: U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2024), https://www.bls.gov/news.release/ebs2.t06.htm.; Adewale Maye and Asha Banerjee, "The Struggles of Low-Wage Workhttps://www.clasp.org/publications/fact-sheet/struggles-low-wage-work-0/.w.clasp.org/publications/fact-sheet/struggles-low-wage-work-0/.
- Julia Lane, "The Low-Wage Labor Market: Challenges and Opportunities for Economic Self-Sufficiency. The Role of Job Turnover in the Low-Wage Labor Market" (Washington DC: Office of the Assistant Secretary For Planning and Evaluation, 1999), https://aspe.hhs.gov/reports/low-wage-labor-market-challenges-opportunities-economic-self-sufficiency-role-job-turnover-low-wage.
- Lawrence F. Katz and Alan B. Krueger, "The Rise and Nature of Alternative Work Arrangements in the United States, 1995–2015," ILR Review 72, no. 2 (2019): 382–416, https://doi.org/10.1177/0019793918820008; David Weil, "Enforcing Labour Standards in Fissured Workplaces: The US Experience," The Economic and Labour Relations Review 22, no. 2 (2011): 33–54, https://doi.org/10.1177/103530461102200203; Joseph Llobrera and Lauren Hall, "SNAP Helps Millions of Workers in Low-Paying Jobs" (Washington DC: Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, 2024), https://www.cbpp.org/research/food-assistance/snap-helps-millions-of-workers-in-low-paying-jobs.
- "Fact Sheet 13: Employee or Independent Contractor Classification Under the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA)" (Washington DC: U.S. Department of Labor, 2024), https://www.dol.gov/agencies/whd/fact-sheets/13-flsa-employment-relationship.
- "US Labor Law for Farmworkers" (Washington DC: Farmworker Justice, n.d.), https://www.nlrb.gov/about-nlrb/rights-we-protect/the-law/employees/are-you-covered. "Fact Sheet 13: Employee or Independent Contractor Classification Under the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA)."; "About NLRB: Are You Covered?," National Labor Relations Board, n.d., https://www.nlrb.gov/about-nlrb/rights-we-protect/the-law/employees/are-you-covered.
- ¹⁷ "Paid Family Leave Increases Mothers' Labor Market Attachment" (Washington DC: Institute for Women's Policy Research, 2020), https://iwpr.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/B383-Paid-Leave-Fact-Sheet.pdf.
- 18 "Paid Leave and Employment Stability of First-Time Mothers" (Washington DC: Institute for Women's Policy Research, 2017), https://www.dol.gov/sites/dolgov/files/OASP/legacy/files/IMPAQ-First-Time-Mothers.pdf.
- ¹⁹ "What Are the Main Types of Paid Leave?" (Washington DC: U.S. Department of Labor Women's Bureau, n.d.), https://www.dol.gov/agencies/wb/featured-paid-leave.
- ²⁰ Scott Brown et al., "Employee and Worksite Perspectives of the FMLA: Who Is Eligible?" (Rockville, Maryland: Abt Associates, Inc., 2020), https://www.dol.gov/sites/dolgov/files/OASP/evaluation/pdf/WHD_FMLA2018PB1WhoIsEligible_StudyBrief_Aug2020.pdf.
- Ryan Donahue, Mayu Takeuchi, and Glencora Haskins, "The Working Class Needs Quality Jobs—and Regional Leaders Need to Define What Those Are" (Washington DC: Brookings Institute, 2024), https://www.brookings.edu/articles/the-working-class-needs-quality-jobs-and-regional-leaders-need-to-define-what-those-are/.
- ²² Sarah Jane Glynn and Katie Hamm, "The Economics of Caregiving for Working Mothers" (Washington DC: Center for American Progress, 2019), https://www.americanprogress.org/article/economics-caregiving-working-mothers.

- Ryan Donahue, Mayu Takeuchi, and Glencora Haskins, "The Working Class Needs Quality Jobs—and Regional Leaders Need to Define What Those Are" (Washington DC: Brookings Institute, 2024), https://www.brookings.edu/articles/the-working-class-needs-quality-jobs-and-regional-leaders-need-to-define-what-those-are/.
- ²⁴ "Women and the Minimum Wage, State by State" (Washington DC: National Women's Law Center, 2021), https://nwlc.org/resource/women-and-minimum-wage-state-state/.
- ²⁵ Gregory Acs et al., "Exploring the Effects of a \$15 an Hour Federal Minimum Wage on Poverty, Earnings, and Net Family Resources" (Washington DC: Urban Institute, 2022), https://www.urban.org/research/publication/exploring-effects-15-hour-federal-minimum-wage-poverty-earnings-and-net-family.
- ²⁶ Sarah Javaid, "One Fair Wage: Women Fare Better in States with Equal Treatment for Tipped Workers" (Washington DC: National Women's Law Center, 2024), https://nwlc.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/06/Tipped-Workers-FS-2024.6.12v1.pdf.
- William E. Even and David A. Macpherson, "The Effect of the Tipped Minimum Wage on Employees in the U.S. Restaurant Industry.," Southern Economic Journal 80, no. 3 (2014): 633–55. https://www.jstor.org/stable/23809644; Sylvia Allegretto and Carl Nadler, "Tipped Wage Effects on Earnings and Employment in Full-Service Restaurants," Industrial Relations. 4 (2015): 622–47, https://doi.org/10.1111/irel.12108.
- ²⁸ Nicole Hallett, "The Problem of Wage Theft" (New Haven, Connecticut: Yale Law & Policy Review, 2018), https://yalelawandpolicy.org/sites/default/files/YLPR/2_hallett_final.pdf.
- ²⁹ Sarah B. Andrea et al., "A Nationwide Investigation of the Impact of the Tipped Worker Subminimum Wage on Infant Size for Gestational Age," Preventive Medicine 133 (2020): 106016, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2020.106016.
- Michelle Maroto and David Pettinicchio, "Worth Less? Exploring the Effects of Subminimum Wages on Poverty among U.S. Hourly Workers," Sociological Perspectives 66, no. 3 (2023): 455–75, https://doi.org/10.1177/07311214221124630.
- Maria E. Enchautegui, Martha Johnson, and Julia Gelatt, "Who Minds the Kids When Mom Works a Nonstandard Schedule?" (Washington DC: Urban Institute, 2015), https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/64696/2000307-Who-Minds-the-Kids-When-Mom-Works-a-Nonstandard-Schedule.pdf.
- "Collateral Damage: Scheduling Challenges for Workers in Low-Wage Jobs and Their Consequences" (Washington DC: National Women's Law Center, 2023), https://nwlc.org/resource/collateral-damage-scheduling-challenges-workers-low-wage-jobs-and-their-consequences/.
- Maria A. Enchautegui, "Nonstandard Work Schedules and the Well-Being of Low-Income Families," Low-Income Working Families (Washington DC: Urban Institute, 2013), https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/32696/412877-Nonstandard-Work-Schedules-and-the-Well-being-of-Low-Income-Families.PDF.
- ³⁴ "State and Local Laws Advancing Fair Work Schedules" (Washington DC: National Women's Law Center, 2023), https://nwlc.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/Fair-Work-Schedules-Factsheet-9.14.23v1.pdf.
- Jean I. Layzer and Nancy Burstein, "National Study of Child Care for Low Income Families: Patterns of Child Care Use Among Low-Income Families" (Washington DC: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Administration for Children and families, 2007), https://www.acf.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/documents/opre/patterns_cc_execsum.pdf.

- ³⁶ Elizabeth O. Ananat, Anna Gassman-Pines, and John A. Fitz-Henley, "The Effects of the Emeryville Fair Workweek Ordinance on the Daily Lives of Low-Wage Workers and Their Families," RSF: The Russell Sage Foundation Journal of the Social Sciences 8, no. 5 (2022): 45–66, https://doi.org/10.7758/RSF.2022.8.5.03.
- ³⁷ Saravanan Kesavan et al., "Doing Well by Doing Good: Improving Retail Store Performance with Responsible Scheduling Practices at the Gap, Inc.," Management Science 68, no. 11 (2022): 7818–36, https://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.2021.4291.; Joan C. Williams et al., "Stable Scheduling Increases Productivity and Sales: The Stable Scheduling Study" (San Francisco, Californhttps://worklifelaw.org/publications/Stable-Scheduling-Study-Report.pdf.law.org/publications/Stable-Scheduling-Study-Report.pdf.
- ³⁸ "Domestic Workers Bill of Rights" (New York, New York: National Domestic Workers Alliance, n.d.), https://www.domesticworkers.org/programs-and-campaigns/developing-policy-solutions/domestic-workers-bill-of-rights.
- ³⁹ "Mapping Inequality: Farmworkers' Rights under State Employment Laws," Farmworker Justice (blog), n.d., https://www.farmworkerjustice.org/blog-post/mapping-inequality-farmworkers-rights-under-state-employment-laws/.
- ⁴⁰ Jenny R. Yang et al., "Reimagining Workplace Protections: A Policy Agenda to Meet Independent Contractors' and Temporary Workers' Needs" (Washington DC: Urban Institute, 2020), https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/103331/reimagining-workplace-protections_1_0.pdf.
- ⁴¹ Asha Banerjee et al., "Domestic Workers Chartbook 2022" (Washington DC: Economic Policy Institute, 2022), https://www.epi.org/publication/domestic-workers-chartbook-2022/#chart1.
- ⁴² Marcelo Castillo and Skyler Simnitt, "Farm Labor" (Washington DC: U.S. Department of Agriculture, 2025), https://www.ers.usda.gov/topics/farm-economy/farm-labor/.
- ⁴³ Katherine Lim et al., "Independent Contractors in the U.S.: New Trends from 15 Years of Administrative Tax Data" (Washington DC: International Revenue Service, 2019), https://www.irs.gov/pub/irs-soi/19rpindcontractorinus.pdf.
- David Weil, "Understanding the Present and Future of Work in the Fissured Workplace Context," RSF: The Russell Sage Foundation Journal of the Social Sciences 5, no. 5 (2019): 147, https://doi.org/10.7758/rsf.2019.5.5.08.
- ⁴⁵ Patrick Carey et al., "Applying for and Receiving Unemployment Insurance Benefits during the Coronavirus Pandemic," Monthly Labor Review, 2021, https://doi.org/10.21916/mlr.2021.19.
- 46 "Why Unions Are Important: Unions Promote Transparency and Help Resolve Workplace Issues" (Washington DC: Worker Organizing Resource and Knowledge Center, n.d.), https://www.workcenter.gov/why-are-unions-important/.
- ⁴⁷ "The Good Food Purchasing Values," Center for Good Food Purchasing, n.d., https://goodfoodpurchasing.org/good-food-values/#valued-workforce.
- ⁴⁸ "Pt. I: The Good Food Purchasing Initiative of Metro Chicago (GFPI)" (Chicago, Illinois: Chicago Food Policy Action Policy, n.d.), https://www.chicagofoodpolicy.com/producer-manual-overview.
- ⁴⁹ Barbara A. Butrica, Daniel Kuehn, and Madeleine Sirois, "Women in Apprenticeships and Nontraditional Occupations in the United States" (Washington DC: Urban Institute, 2023), https://www.dol.gov/sites/dolgov/files/OASP/evaluation/pdf/WANTO-knowledge-report-508.pdf.
- ⁵⁰ "Expanding Good for All," The Good Food Impact Hub, n.d., https://impacthub.goodfoodpurchasing.org/.
- ⁵¹ "About the Hub," The Good Food Impact Hub, n.d., https://impacthub.goodfoodpurchasing.org/about.

- Frank Manzo IV, "The Impact of Responsible Bidder Ordinances on Bid Competition and Public Construction Costs" (La Grange, Illinois: Illinois Economic Policy Institute, 2020), https://faircontracting.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/ilepi-impact-of-rbos-on-bid-competition-costs-final.pdf.
- ⁵³ "The Good Jobs Initiative" (Washington DC: U.S. Department of Labor, n.d.), https://www.dol.gov/general/good-jobs/principles.
- ⁵⁴ "Workforce Development in the IIJA, CHIPS and IRA" (Washington DC: National Governors Association, 2023), https://www.nga.org/publications/workforce-development-in-the-iija-chips-and-ira/.
- ⁵⁵ Rosa L. DeLauro, "FAMILY Act," Pub. L. No. H.R. 3481 (2023), https://www.congress.gov/bill/118th-congress/house-bill/3481?s=1&r=1.
- ⁵⁶ Jahana Hayes, "Caring for All Families Act," Pub. L. No. H.R.789 (2023), https://www.congress.gov/bill/118th-congress/house-bill/789.
- ⁵⁷ Elisabeth Jacobs, "Evidence on the Benefits of Expanded Access to Family and Medical Leave" (Washington DC: Urban Institute, 2020), https://www.urban.org/research/publication/evidence-benefits-expanded-access-family-and-medical-leave.
- Chantel Boyens et al., "Understanding Equity in Paid Leave through Microsimulation: National Report." (Washington DC: Urban Institute, 2024), https://static1.squarespace.com/static/6536b8dab487e203ecaa28ae/t/67c7b6f44348db3e0913e177/17411 41750435/Understanding+Equity+In+Paid+Leave+Microsimulation+National+Report.pdf.
- ⁵⁹ Elisabeth Jacobs, "Evidence on the Benefits of Expanded Access to Family and Medical Leave"
- Maureen Sayres Van Niel et al., "The Impact of Paid Maternity Leave on the Mental and Physical Health of Mothers and Children: A Review of the Literature and Policy Implications," Harvard Review of Psychiatry 28, no. 2 (2020): 113–26, https://doi.org/10.1097/HRP.0000000000000246.
- ⁶¹ Diana Montoya-Williams, Molly Passarella, and Scott A. Lorch, "The Impact of Paid Family Leave in the United States on Birth Outcomes and Mortality in the First Year of Life," Health Services Research 55, no. S2 (2020): 807–14, https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6773.13288.
- 62 Diana Montoya-Williams, "The Impact of Paid Family Leave in the United States"
- ⁶³ "Early Childhood Educator Pay Equity Fund: Timeline and History," DC Office of the State Superintendent of Education, n.d., https://osse.dc.gov/ecepayequity.
- "Supporting and Sustaining the Home Care Workforce to Meet the Growing Need for Long-Term Care" (Washington DC: American Public Health Association, 2020), https://www.apha.org/policies-and-advocacy/public-health-policy-statements/policy-database/2021/01/13/supporting-and-sustaining-the-home-care-workforce.; Julie Whitaker, "Home Care Cooperatives: Worker Ownership in Focus," (Wisconsin Long Term Care Workforce Alliance, 2005), https://www.phinational.org/wp-content/uploads/legacy/clearinghouse/homecarecooperatives_workerownership.pdf.
- 65 "Our Campaigns," Caring Across Generations, n.d., https://caringacross.org/campaigns/.
- 66 Lawerence F. Katz, Ai-jen Poo, and Elaine Waxman, "Imagining a Future of Work That Fosters Mobility for All" (Washington DC: Urban Institute, 2018), https://www.domesticworkers.org/programs-and-campaigns/developing-policy-solutions/transforming-care-work/. "Transforming Care Work" (New York, New York: National Domestic Workers Alliance, n.d.), https://www.domesticworkers.org/programs-and-campaigns/developing-policy-solutions/transforming-care-work/.
- ⁶⁷ Jane Glynn and Hamm, "The Economics of Caregiving for Working Mothers."

- ⁶⁸ "Employed Persons by Detailed Industry, Sex, Race, and Hispanic or Latino Ethnicity" (Washington DC: U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2025), https://www.bls.gov/cps/cpsaat18.htm.
- ⁶⁹ Heather Sandstrom et al., "DC Child Care Policy Research Partnership: An Implementation Study of the Early Childhood Educator Pay Equity Fund," Urban Institute, n.d., https://www.urban.org/projects/dc-child-care-policy-research-partnership/implementation-study-early-childhood-educator.

Postsecondary Education Access and Workforce Development Opportunities

In this section, we discuss key levers to improve access to higher education and workforce development programs, specifically by increasing access to child care, which can enable single mothers to build skills and prepare for higher-quality jobs. Single mothers make up a large portion of low-income parents participating in an education or training program¹ and merit special considerations to improve outcomes.

Access to Child Care in Postsecondary Education

Increasing educational attainment is a key pathway for economic security. For women, earning postsecondary credentials can increase lifetime earnings and employment rates.² Not only do mothers who earn a college degree earn substantially more, but their children also have higher educational attainment and earnings.³

Single mothers with only a high school diploma in the US are 1.8 times more likely to live in poverty than when they hold an associate degree, and 3 times more likely than when they hold a bachelor's degree. However, single mothers are less likely to hold postsecondary credentials than other women, and more likely to have started but not finished a postsecondary degree.⁴

A key challenge for single mothers who want to pursue postsecondary education and other workforce development opportunities is access to affordable child care that can allow them to attend classes or combine education and work. Young parents in particular need additional support to succeed in the long term, especially given financial constraints to afford child care. The Child Care Development Fund (CCDF) is one critical program that improves access to child care, among other potential supports via workforce and training programs. More specific levers to explore in relation to the CCDF program appear in the section Affordable and Accessible Child Care.

Workforce Development

While postsecondary education can be a critical asset for upward mobility, we focus here on some specific approaches for increasing access to other workforce strategies, as single mothers can also benefit from other types of training and credentialing programs. Several federal, state, and local funding sources support workforce development programs, and the primary source of federal funding for the public workforce system is the federal Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act (WIOA),⁶ authorized in 2014, intended to support regional collaboration via local workforce development boards that help meet the needs of local labor markets. These boards coordinate a network of 2,400 American Job Centers that provide job search, education, training, and supportive services. AJC programs vary greatly in their offerings, and often little evaluation evidence is available on which of the thousands of programs offered across sites are most effective. Moreover, training data suggest that training programs may not consistently focus on connecting participants with opportunity occupations that offer better returns to work.⁷

Evidence supports prioritizing a career pathways approach (also required by WIOA), combining training and attainment of in-demand postsecondary credentials to help less educated workers advance to better paying jobs. A Department of Labor meta-analysis of the average impacts of 46 career pathway program studies reported that "the career pathways approach leads to large educational progress gains, large gains in industry-specific employment, small gains in general employment, small gains in short-term earnings, and no meaningful gains in medium/longer-term earnings" (though some evaluations did report earnings over more than five years, indicating the need for further research).⁸

Apprenticeships are also a helpful tool to increase the number of women in skilled trades and are an important entry point into the labor market. In 1992, Congress passed the Women in Apprenticeship and Nontraditional Occupations (WANTO) Act through the Department of Labor to provide technical assistance to employers to increase employment of women in apprenticeships. However, women in registered apprenticeships still largely participate in female-dominated occupations, such as health care and education, which often have lower wages and cite child care and harassment as top barriers to retention.⁹

Summary of Policy Levers

Below is a table of policy levers that can improve workforce support access for single mothers.

TABLE 1
Postsecondary Education and Workforce Development Policy Levers

Policy category	Policy recommendation	Description	Level
Access to child care	Expand CCDF access to families in education and training	States should establish CCDF eligibility rules that provide broad access to child care for parents in education and training programs and increase collaboration between WIOA workforce development boards and CCDF agencies	State
	Make American Job Centers more inclusive to the needs of parents	American Job Centers should help meet family child care needs through WIOA supportive services funding and partnering with child care agencies	Local
Access to workforce development and training	Expand funding for and access to sector-based programs, including preapprenticeship and apprenticeship programs	Sector-based programs are effective pathways to well-paying jobs, and preapprenticeship programs and womenonly training programs can improve participation and retention	State/local/employer collaboration

Source: Authors' analysis of policy levers.

Policy Details

Below are detailed summaries of how each policy lever can impact single mothers.

Expand CCDF Access to Families in Education and Training

As noted in the child care section, CCDF subsidies are a critical support for single parents, and they are the most commonly reported source of funding for child care for parents in education and training.¹⁰ However state discretion on eligibility rules means coverage for education and training varies widely, from 70 percent of the CCDF caseload receiving child care for education and training in Virginia to less than 5 percent in Arizona.¹¹ While we discuss ensuring adequate funding for CCDF in the child care section, it is also critical to reduce barriers and increase flexibility around eligibility for parents in

education and training (work requirements, time limits, types of eligible degrees), which especially impacts single mothers that may face additional barriers to training.¹²

State and local workforce development boards can also collaborate with state or local CCDF representatives to develop plans to increase access. ¹³ For example, the Georgia Department of Early Care and Learning, which administers CCDF, and the Technical College System of Georgia, which administers WIOA funds, have a collaborative partnership and have established connections at the local level with family support consultants to refer parents in employment and training to child care assistance programs. ¹⁴

SCALE OF IMPACT

While 44 states and DC allow parents to get child care assistance to finish high school or earn an equivalent certification, 15 of these states also impose work requirements.¹⁵

EVIDENCE

The CCDF program can lead to increased economic mobility for single mothers (via higher employment rates¹⁶ and wealth building¹⁷). See the Affordable and Accessible Child Care section for more information.

Make American Job Centers More Inclusive to Parents

Strategies beyond CCDF for meeting child care needs and supporting transportation are needed to support single parents engaging in workforce development. One avenue includes through services offered by American Job Centers, including the following:

- Funding supportive services. Child care and transportation are allowable services covered by WIOA supportive-service funds, but many states and localities may not prioritize their limited resources for child care supports.

 18 Local workforce development boards can choose to invest more funding for supportive services to make training programs more accessible for single parents. Some advocates have suggested future reforms to offer grants that both cover training tuition as well as the cost of supportive services.

 19
- Partnering with child care agencies. American Job Centers can also partner with local child care agencies to help facilitate access to child care for parents with low incomes.²⁰

 Allowing children in Job Center spaces. In a survey of local workforce development boards, only 32 percent required centers to allow parents to bring their children into the center, and 7 percent had dedicated space for children.²¹

SCALE OF IMPACT

In 2021, less than 15 percent of WIOA participants received supportive services, and only a subset of these recipients received services for child care.²²

EVIDENCE

Supportive services such as child care assistance are an evidence-based strategy for increasing the ability to acquire training and to maintain employment.²³

Expand Funding for and Access to Sector-Based Programs

Given the evidence around the importance of the career pathway approach and sector-based programs, increasing funding for these programs is an important way to reach low-income single mothers who need to be connected to higher-quality jobs.

The Sectoral Employment Impact Study also found positive benefits among participants in experienced nonprofit led, sector-based programs with strong links to employers. The benefits were particularly notable among women. A promising, evidence-based sector model is Project QUEST in Texas, which provides financial, academic, and personal supports to low-income individuals to help them attain well-paying jobs in key sectors. A randomized controlled trial of their San Antonio site found that the study participants, who were largely Latina single mothers, experienced significant and sustained increases in earnings in the health care sector over the following 14-year period. This model has now been replicated in multiple locations across the US.

Another type of sector-based strategy are apprenticeship programs, which are an evidence-based strategy for improving outcomes for workers.²⁷ Nevertheless, women have had limited representation in these programs. One strategy for addressing this disparity is the use of pre-apprenticeship programs, which are designed to prepare individuals for entry into an apprenticeship program, or other job opportunities, and can often be more supportive environments for populations like women and youth. They have been found to improve recruitment of women into trades, which can offer higher-wage employment opportunities. Pre-apprenticeship programs can increase retention, and women-only training programs can provide a more supportive learning environment, such as programs in

information technology. Grantees of WANTO can utilize funding to support the pre-apprenticeship model. Similar to Job Centers, funding for supportive services is also critical.²⁸

SCALE OF IMPACT

The United States falls behind other developed economies, such as Germany, Canada, and the United Kingdom in offering apprenticeship opportunities for a meaningful percentage of its workforce. ²⁹ Underrepresentation in apprenticeship opportunities is particularly stark for women, especially given that women make up nearly half of the US workforce. ³⁰ In 2022, women represented only 13.8 percent of active registered apprentices, ³¹ and the majority of women in registered apprenticeships participated in female-dominated occupations (61 percent), such as health care support, educational instruction and library, and personal care and service occupations. ³²

EVIDENCE

Women-only training programs are found to be supportive in the needs of participants and allow the opportunity to speak openly about barriers and concerns.³³ Apprenticeship programs can help women access higher-paying, higher-demand occupations, including those in which they have had lower participation, like information technology.³⁴

Notes

- Lauren Eyster et al., "Balancing School, Work, and Family: Low-Income Parents' Participation in Education and Training" (Washington, DC: Urban Institute, 2014), https://www.urban.org/research/publication/balancing-school-work-and-family-low-income-parents-participation-education-and-training
- Anthony P. Carnevale, Stephen J. Rose, and Ban Cheah, "The College Payoff: Education, Occupations, Lifetime Earnings" (Washington DC: The Georgetown University Center on Education and the Workforce, 2011), https://cew.georgetown.edu/cew-reports/the-college-payoff/.
- ³ Theresa Anderson, "What If Mom Went Back to School?" (Washington, DC: Urban Institute, 2022), https://www.urban.org/research/publication/what-if-mom-went-back-school.
- Lindsey Reichlin Cruse et al., "Investing in Single Mothers' Higher Education: National and State Estimates of the Costs and Benefits of Single Mothers' Educational Attainment to Individuals, Families, and Society" (Washington DC: The Institute for Women's Policy Research, 2019), https://iwpr.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/R600_Investing-in-Single-Moms-National.pdf.
- ⁵ Shayne Spaulding et al., "The Young-Parent Balancing Act" (Washington DC: Urban Institute, 2019), https://www.urban.org/features/young-parent-balancing-act.
- ⁶ "The Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act" (Washington DC: Urban Institute, n.d.), https://workforce.urban.org/node/66.html.

- David Deming et al., "Navigating Public Job Training" (Cambridge, MA: Harvard Project on Workforce, March 2023), https://www.pw.hks.harvard.edu/post/publicjobtraining
- 8 Laura Peck et al., "A Meta-Analysis of 46 Career Pathways Impact Evaluations" (Washington DC: U.S. Department of Labor, 2022), https://www.dol.gov/agencies/eta/research/publications/meta-analysis-46-career-pathways-impact-evaluations.
- ⁹ Barbara A. Butrica, Daniel Kuehn, and Sirois Madeleine, "Women in Apprenticeships and Nontraditional Occupations in the United States: Apprenticeship Evidence-Building Portfolio" (Washington DC: U.S. Department of Labor, 2023), https://www.apprenticeship.gov/sites/default/files/WANTO-knowledge-report-508%206.15.23.pdf.
- Shayne Spaulding and Semhar Gebrekristos, "Family-Centered Approaches to Workforce Program Services" (Washington DC: Urban Institute, 2018), https://www.urban.org/research/publication/family-centered-approaches-workforce-program-services.
- Semhar Gebrekristos and Gina Adams, "Do Parents Get Child Care Assistance for Education and Training?" (Washington DC: Urban Institute, 2019), https://www.urban.org/research/publication/do-parents-get-child-care-assistance-education-and-training.
- 12 Christin Durham et al., "Helping Parents Access Child Care for Education and Training" (Washington DC: Urban Institute, 2019), https://www.urban.org/research/publication/helping-parents-access-child-care-education-and-training.
- Shayne Spaulding, "The Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act and Child Care for Low-Income Parents" (Washington DC: Urban Institute, 2015), https://www.urban.org/research/publication/workforce-innovation-and-opportunity-act-and-child-care-low-income-parents.
- ¹⁴ Durham et al., "Helping Parents Access Child Care for Education and Training."
- ¹⁵ Durham et al., "Helping Parents Access Child Care for Education and Training."
- ¹⁶ April Crawford, "The Impact of Child Care Subsidies on Single Mothers' Work Effort," Review of Policy Research 23, no. 3 (2006): 699–711, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1541-1338.2006.00224.x.
- ¹⁷ Nicole D. Forry, "The Impact of Child Care Subsidies on Low-Income Single Parents: An Examination of Child Care Expenditures and Family Finances," Journal of Family and Economic Issues 30, no. 1 (2009): 43–54, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10834-008-9135-6.
- ¹⁸ Gina Adams, Shayne Spaulding, and Caroline Heller, "Bridging the Gap Exploring the Intersection of Workforce Development and Child Care" (Washington DC: Urban Institute, 2015), https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/52751/2000225-bridging-the-gap_1.pdf.
- ¹⁹ Nakeisha Ricks-Pettyjohn, "The Case for Investing in Holistic Support Services and Skills Training," Skills Blog (blog), 2024, https://nationalskillscoalition.org/blog/news/the-case-for-investing-in-holistic-support-services-and-skills-training/.
- ²⁰ Spaulding, "The Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act and Child Care for Low-Income Parents."
- ²¹ Spaulding and Gebrekristos, "Family-Centered Approaches to Workforce Program Services."
- ²² Ricks-Pettyjohn, "The Case for Investing in Holistic Support Services and Skills Training."
- ²³ Gina Adams, Shayne Spaulding, and Caroline Heller, "Bridging the Gap Executive Summary" (Washington DC: Urban Institute, 2015), https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/52756/2000226-bridging-the-gap-executive-summary_1.pdf.

- ²⁴ Sheila Maguire et al., "Tuning In to Local Labor Markets: Findings from the Sectoral Employment Impact Study" (New York, New York: Public/Private Ventures, 2010), https://ppv.issuelab.org/resources/5101/5101.pdf.
- Anne Roder and Mark Elliot, "Evidence Summary for Project QUEST: Training Low-Income Individuals for Well-Paying Healthcare Jobs" (Houston, TX: Project Venture, 2024), https://evidencebasedprograms.org/document/project-quest-evidence-summary/.; Anne Roder and Mark Elliot, "Fourteen Year Gains: Project QUEST's Remarkable Impact," (New York: Economic Mobility Corporation, 2024), https://economicmobilitycorp.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/10/Project-Quest-14-Year-Gains.pdf.
- ²⁶ "Project Quest, Inc.," Questsa, n.d., https://questsa.org/.
- ²⁷ "National Apprenticeship Resource Hub," Urban Institute, n.d., https://apprenticeships.urban.org/apprenticeship-homepage.
- ²⁸ Butrica, Kuehn, and Madeleine, "Women in Apprenticeships and Nontraditional Occupations in the United States: Apprenticeship Evidence-Building Portfolio."
- Robert I. Lerman, "The State of Apprenticeship In the US: A Plan for Scale" (Washington DC: Apprenticeships for America, 2022), https://dls.maryland.gov/pubs/prod/NoPblTabMtg/AppCmsn2023/State-of-Apprenticeships-in-the-United-States.pdf.
- ³⁰ "Women in the Labor Force The Current Population Survey" (Washington DC: U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2024), https://www.bls.gov/cps/demographics/women-labor-force.htm.
- ³¹ "Women in Apprenticeship" (Washington DC: ApprenticeshipUSA, 2022), https://www.apprenticeship.gov/sites/default/files/dol-industry-factsheet-series-women.pdf.
- ³² Butrica, Kuehn, and Madeleine, "Women in Apprenticeships and Nontraditional Occupations in the United States: Apprenticeship Evidence-Building Portfolio."
- Szufang Chuang, "Exploring Women-Only Training Program for Gender Equality and Women's Continuous Professional Development in the Workplace," Higher Education, Skills and Work-Based Learning 9, no. 3 (2019): 359–73, https://doi.org/10.1108/HESWBL-01-2018-0001.; Els Rommes, Wendy Faulkner, and Irma Van Slooten, "Changing Lives: The Case for Women-Only Vocational Technology Training Revisited" 57, 3 (2005): 293–317.
- Women's Bureau, "Advancing Opportunities for Women through Apprenticeship" (US Department of Labor, 2021),
 - https://www.dol.gov/sites/dolgov/files/WB/media/AdvancingOpportunitiesWomenthroughApprenticeship-jan2021.pdf.

Health Care and Maternal and Child Health Services

Providing adequate health care coverage and access to vital health care services ensures the well-being of single mothers and their children. Below we discuss three critical supports: (1) access to Medicaid, (2) access to mental health care, and (3) home-visiting programs.

Access to Medicaid

Programs like Medicaid and the Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP) provide free or low-cost health coverage to low-income people, including families and children, pregnant women, the elderly, people with disabilities, and in expansion states, other adults. Access to Medicaid has been linked to increased health care coverage, access, and use among Medicaid-eligible families. However, access to Medicaid varies across states. The median Medicaid eligibility

10 percent of single mothers are uninsured compared with 8 percent of women in two-parent households.

threshold for parents in the US is 138 percent of the federal poverty level (FPL) but ranges from less than 50 percent FPL in states such as Alabama, Florida, Mississippi, and Texas to 221 percent in DC.

In 2020, of the 16 percent of nonelderly adult American women covered by Medicaid, more than one-third (38 percent) were single parents.² However, in 2023, an estimated 1 in 10 single mothers were uninsured, compared with 8 percent of women in two-parent households.³

Access to Behavioral Health Care and Decreasing Maternal Mortality

In addition to access to health care coverage for a broad spectrum of health care needs, a fundamental feature of improving maternal health and well-being—and, by extension, child well-being—requires culturally effective prevention, identification, treatment, and social supports for mental health conditions and substance use disorders (SUDs). In 2024, a congressionally mandated Task Force on Maternal Mental Health released the National Strategy to Improve Maternal Mental Health Care, which highlighted that one in five individuals experience mental health or SUD issues during pregnancy

or the postpartum period, a time of heightened vulnerability. The task force found that behavioral health conditions, including suicide and overdose, were the most common causes of pregnancy-related deaths between 2017 and 2019, surpassing conditions such as hemorrhages, cardiac and coronary conditions, and infections.⁴

Mothers with and without partners are at risk for these conditions. Although many single mothers have strong social networks, those who have fewer social supports and competing demands of caregiving, work, or school, face added stressors.

Access to Home-Visiting Programs

Home-visiting programs are also critical supports that can increase connectedness of single mothers and provide new and expectant parents with information, support, and referrals to community resources and services. These programs can establish a foundation for good maternal and child health and food security, addressing urgent basic needs and enabling families to focus on family goals. A strong body of research evidence points to positive impacts on multiple health outcomes for participants, including reductions in low birth weight, preterm births, infant emergency medical care utilizations, and increased breastfeeding initiation.⁵ Many home-visiting program models exist, with the two of the largest models in the US being Nurse-Family Partnership (NFP)⁶ and Parents as Teachers (PAT).⁷ Launched in 2012, the federal Maternal, Infant, and Early Childhood Home Visiting (MIECHV) Program⁸ is the largest funding source for home-visiting programs in the US. All 50 states, DC, and 5 US territories have access to funding from the MIECHV program. However, about 280,000 families were served in 2023, which is only 1.6 percent of all potential beneficiaries and 3.6 percent of high-priority families.⁹ The funding stream for home-visiting programs is piecemeal and requires states to find and integrate multiple funding sources to serve high-priority families at local levels.¹⁰

I can't afford to stop going to work, so maybe you know my child will start experiencing the same symptoms and I can take them to the doctor, and you know, through that way I can find out [if I'm sick] because, I mean, I don't have insurance. I have to wait and see if, you know, my child ends up being OK and then we'll know that I'm OK.

-Single mother from Texas

TABLE 1
Health Care and Services Policy Levers

Policy category	Policy recommendation	Description	Level
Medicaid	Maintain and expand Medicaid in all states	Ensure expansion of Medicaid in all states to increase equity	State
	Provide continuous eligibility postpartum	Enact multi-year continuous eligibility postpartum for families with children less than 5 years old covered by Medicaid	Federal/state
	Ensure access to Medicaid presumptive eligibility	Allow people to access temporary medical insurance while their application for benefits is being processed	State/local
Behavioral health	Expand access to mental health and SUD care, including prevention of mental health crises, screening, and treatment	Facilitate access to high-quality, evidence-informed, culturally effective integrated physical and mental health care services for expectant and post- partum mothers	Federal/state
Home visiting	Expand access to home-visiting programs	Address geographic gaps in services, particularly in rural areas; continue building evidence on how home-visiting programs can help address early parenting challenges arising from substance abuse disorders and buffer children from adverse effects.	State/local

Source: Authors' analysis of policy levers.

Policy Details

Below are detailed summaries of how each policy lever can impact single mothers.

Ensure Expansion of Medicaid in All States to Increase Equity

Forty states and Washington, DC, have opted for the Medicaid expansion, allowing nonelderly low-income women to access Medicaid regardless of pregnancy or parental status.¹¹

SCALE OF IMPACT

If the remaining 10 states adopted the Medicaid expansion, approximately 5 million adults would enroll in Medicaid, an increase of about 32 percent. 12

EVIDENCE

Medicaid expansion is associated with improved health outcomes, including but not limited to improved mental health outcomes, decreased mortality, and detection of serious medical conditions.¹³ Medicaid expansion for parents is also associated with improved coverage and health outcomes for both parents and children.¹⁴

Enact Multiyear Continuous Eligibility Postpartum for Families with Children Less Than 5 Years Old

Prior to 2024, states were required to provide pregnant women and their children access to Medicaid through 60 days postpartum. The Consolidated Appropriations Act required all states to implement 12-month continuous eligibility for children beginning in 2024. However, guaranteed multiyear eligibility is important to both support the health and well-being of children and reduce the administrative burden required of single mothers in renewal once coverage lapses; estimates show 70 percent of all disenrollments across the country are due to procedural reasons. Promising strategies include extending coverage until age 6.16

SCALE OF IMPACT

As of June 2024, 12 states and DC are working to adopt multiyear continuous eligibility in hopes of assisting low-income families.¹⁷

EVIDENCE

Administrative burdens are known to exacerbate racial and ethnic inequities in access to care. ¹⁸
Continuous coverage is associated with a multitude of economic and health benefits for low-income families and their children. These include increased school readiness, career mobility, and a reduction of administrative burden and coverage gaps. ¹⁹

Expand Presumptive Eligibility for Medicaid and CHIP Programs

Presumptive eligibility enables people to secure coverage immediately after filing an application for these programs without waiting for their application to be fully processed if they are determined likely to be found eligible based on income, household size, and if applicable, pregnancy status.²⁰ The Affordable Care Act required all states to implement hospital presumptive eligibility (HPE), allowing qualified hospitals to immediately enroll likely-eligible individuals in Medicaid for a temporary period

while their application is processed. However, only 31 states have adopted presumptive eligibility for pregnant women in Medicaid in other qualified settings, such as health centers and local health departments.²¹ Without this, it can take up to 45 days to process an application, which can delay timely prenatal care, especially if providers require proof of insurance to schedule an appointment.

SCALE OF IMPACT

Post ACA, 26.8 percent of new mothers that received prenatal care covered by Medicaid were uninsured before their pregnancy.²²

EVIDENCE

A study of presumptive eligibility in Kansas found associations with improved prenatal care access among individuals with high school education or less.²³ Presumptive eligibility provides the same benefits as expanded Medicaid benefits, including a lowering of medical debts for its recipients.²⁴ Presumptive eligibility also guarantees reimbursement for providers, which can incentivize providers to provide care for uninsured pregnant women.²⁵

Expand Access to Care Models with Pre- and Post-Natal Health Services and Mental Health and SUD Care

The federal government can enact legislation and align incentives to facilitate access to high-quality, evidence-informed, culturally effective integrated physical and behavioral health care services for all birthing women. Core services include comprehensive screenings for behavioral health needs in all settings that serve expectant and postpartum moms, enhanced services to address needs of both parent and child, expanded telehealth coverage to mitigate geographic shortages of behavioral health care providers, and resources to address social factors that influence outcomes, such as intimate partner violence, food insecurity, housing instability, and challenges meeting basic needs. Currently, some states' Medicaid covers maternal mental health screening as part of well-child visits, regardless of the mother's insurance status.

SCALE OF IMPACT

According to the Policy Center for Maternal Mental Health, 96 percent of birthing women live in an area with a shortage of maternal mental health professionals.²⁸ In nearly 22 percent of counties in the US, women face a high risk for maternal mental health disorders. Researchers have coined the term "maternal mental health dark zones," where data show both high risk and low resources to respond to

need, and 150 counties are classified in this group. The states most affected by maternal behavioral health care shortages are Indiana, Louisiana, Oklahoma, Michigan, Texas, and Tennessee.²⁹ In addition, only 15.9 percent of women 12 or older with a SUD received any form of treatment in 2023,³⁰ and only 5.5 percent of SUD treatment centers offer child care programs.³¹

EVIDENCE

Better access to integrated maternal behavioral services can prevent morbidity and mortality, and support better well-being for children. Nearly two-thirds of pregnancy-related deaths from suicide, drug overdoses, and other causes associated with mental health conditions and SUDs in the period 2008 and 2017 occurred between 43 days to one year postpartum, emphasizing the need for postpartum coverage up to one year.³²

Expand Access to Home-Visiting Programs

Home-visiting programs are a critical lever for pregnant woman and postpartum mothers. A key lever to increase accessibility includes addressing geographic gaps in services, particularly in rural areas. Additionally, efforts to continue building evidence on how home-visiting programs can help address early parenting challenges arising from substance abuse disorders and buffer children from adverse effects are key. Increased funding must go hand in hand with increasing infrastructure to implement these programs, including by boosting staff and capacity to recruit and enroll new families. Efforts should also be made to recruit and retain home visitors, especially given low compensation (see Job Quality section for more information).

SCALE OF IMPACT

Despite demonstrated positive health outcomes, evidence-based home-visiting programs are available in less than half of US counties, leaving many eligible families unable to access services.³³ There are an estimated 17 million pregnant women and parenting families who could benefit from home-visiting programs. In 2024, 23 percent of potential beneficiaries of these programs are single mothers or single pregnant women.³⁴

EVIDENCE

Evidence based home-visiting programs are associated with improved health outcomes for children, increased emotional stability in families due to improved maternal mental health, reduced child maltreatment, and increased well-being. Home-visiting programs grant mothers the ability to thrive in

these aspects of their lives due to continued assistance they receive even after they reach selfsufficiency.³⁵

Notes

- Madeline Guth and Ammula Meghana, "Building on the Evidence Base: Studies on the Effects of Medicaid Expansion, February 2020 to March 2021" (San Francisco, California: KFF, 2021), https://files.kff.org/attachment/Report-Building-on-the-Evidence-Base-Studies-on-the-Effects-of-Medicaid-Expansion.pdf.
- ² Katherine Keisler-Starkey and Lisa N Bunch, "Health Insurance Coverage in the United States: 2023," Current Population Reports (Washington DC: U.S. Census Bureau, 2024), https://www2.census.gov/library/publications/2024/demo/p60-284.pdf; Ivette Ghttps://www.kff.org/womens-health-policy/issue-brief/medicaid-coverage-for-women/.
- ³ "Women's Health Insurance Coverage," KFF (blog), December 12, 2024, https://www.kff.org/other/fact-sheet/womens-health-insurance-coverage/.
- Dorothy Fink and Nima Sheth, "National Strategy to Improve Maternal Mental Health Care" (Rockville, Maryland: Office on Women's Health, 2024), https://www.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/mmh-strategy.pdf.
- Jill H. Filene et al., "Components Associated With Home Visiting Program Outcomes: A Meta-Analysis," Pediatrics 132, no. Supplement_2 (2013): S100-109, https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2013-1021H; Heather Sandstrom, "Early Childhood Home Visiting Programs, 2019), https://doi.org/10.1377/hpb20190321.382895.
- ⁶ "Nurse-Family Partnership" (National Home Visiting Resource Center, n.d.), https://www.nhvrc.org/wp-content/uploads/YB18-NFP-Profile.pdf.
- 7 "Parents as Teachers" (National Home Visiting Resource Center, n.d.), https://www.nhvrc.org/wp-content/uploads/YB18-PAT-Profile.pdf.
- ⁸ "Maternal, Infant, and Early Childhood Home Visiting (MIECHV) Program" (Health Resources & Services Administration, n.d.), https://mchb.hrsa.gov/programs-impact/programs/home-visiting/maternal-infant-early-childhood-home-visiting-miechv-program.
- 9 Allison Meisch and Heather Sandstrom, "2024 Home Visiting Yearbook" (National Home Visiting Resource Center, 2024), https://nhvrc.org/yearbook/2024-yearbook/introduction/highlights/.
- Heather Sandstrom, "Geographic Data Reveal Gaps in Home Visiting Services," Urban Wire (blog), 2017, https://www.urban.org/urban-wire/geographic-data-reveal-gaps-home-visiting-services.
- "Status of State Action on the Medicaid Expansion Decision" (San Francisco, California: KFF, 2024), https://www.kff.org/affordable-care-act/state-indicator/state-activity-around-expanding-medicaid-under-the-affordable-care-.
- Matthew Buettgens and Urmi Ramchandani, "2.3 Million People Would Gain Health Coverage in 2024 If 10 States Were to Expand Medicaid Eligibility" (Washington DC: Urban Institute, 2023), https://www.urban.org/research/publication/23-million-people-would-gain-health-coverage-2024-if-10-states-were-expand.
- Carrie E. Fry and Benjamin D. Sommers, "Effect of Medicaid Expansion on Health Insurance Coverage and Access to Care Among Adults With Depression," Psychiatric Services 69, no. 11 (2018): 1146–52, https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ps.201800181; Miranda B. Lam et al., "Medicaid Expansion and Mortality Among

- Patients With Breast, Lung, and Colorectal Cancer," JAMA Netw Open 3, no. 11 (November 5, 2020), https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.24366; Justin M. Le Blanc et al., "Association of Medicaid Breast Cancer Stage at Diagnosis," JAMA Surgery 155, no. 8 (August 1, 2020): 752, https://doi.org/10.1001/jamasurg.2020.1495.
- Jessica Schubel, "Expanding Medicaid for Parents Improves Coverage and Health for Both Parents and Children" (Washington DC: Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, 2021), https://www.cbpp.org/research/health/expanding-medicaid-for-parents-improves-coverage-and-health-for-both-parents-and.
- "What Is Happening with Medicaid Renewals in Each State?" (Washington DC: Georgetown University Center for Children and Families, n.d.), https://ccf.georgetown.edu/2023/07/14/whats-happening-with-medicaid-renewals/
- ¹⁶ Suzanne Wikle, "States Embracing Multi-Year Medicaid Eligibility for Children: Racial Equity and Anti-Poverty Policy in Action," The Center for Law and Social Policy (blog), 2024, https://www.clasp.org/blog/states-embracing-multi-year-medicaid-eligibility-for-children-racial-equity-and-anti-poverty-policy-in-action/.
- ¹⁷ "Multi-Year Continuous Eligibility for Children" (Washington DC: Georgetown University Center for Children and Families, 2024), https://ccf.georgetown.edu/2024/02/01/multi-year-continuous-eligibility-for-children/.
- "Study to Identify Methods to Assess Equity: Report to the President" (Office of Management and Budget, July 20, 2021), https://www.whitehouse.gov/wp-content/uploads/2021/08/OMB-Report-on-E013985-Implementation_508-Compliant-Secure-v1.1.pdf%20.
- ¹⁹ Maggie Clark, "Medicaid and CHIP Coverage for Pregnant Women: Federal Requirements, State Options" (Washington DC: Georgetown University Center for Children and Families, 2020), https://ccf.georgetown.edu/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/Pregnancy-primary-v6.pdf; Aubrianna Osorio and Joan Alker, "Gaps in Coverage: A Look at Child Health Insurance Trends," (Washington, DC: Georgetown University Center for Children and Families, 2021), https://ccf.georgetown.edu/2021/11/22/gaps-in-coverage-a-look-at-child-health-insurance-trends/.
- Fabiola Carrión and Courtney Mendoza, "Presumptive Eligibility and Abortion" (Washington DC: National Health Law Program, 2020), https://healthlaw.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/Presumptive-Eligibility-and-Abortion_final.pdf.
- ²¹ Clark, "Medicaid and CHIP Coverage for Pregnant Women: Federal Requirements, State Options."
- Emily M. Johnston et al., "Post-ACA, More Than One-Third Of Women With Prenatal Medicaid Remained Uninsured Before Or After Pregnancy: Study Examines Insurance Coverage and Access to Care before, during, and after Pregnancy for Women with Prenatal Medicaid Coverage.," Health Affairs 40, no. 4 (2021): 571–78, https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2020.01678.
- ²³ Erica L. Eliason and Jamie R. Daw, "Presumptive Eligibility for Pregnancy Medicaid and Timely Prenatal Care Access," Health Services Research 57, no. 6 (2022): 1288–94, https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6773.14035.
- Judith Garber, "Presumptive Eligibility: A Promising Solution to Medical Debt" (Needham, Massachusetts: Lown Institute, 2024), https://lowninstitute.org/presumptive-eligibility-a-promising-solution-to-medical-debt/.
- ²⁵ "Pregnant Women" (Washington DC: Advising Congress on Medicaid and CHIP Policy, 2023), https://www.macpac.gov/subtopic/pregnant-women/.
- Nancy K. Grote et al., "Collaborative Care for Perinatal Depression in Socioeconomically Disadvantaged Women: A Randomized Trial: Research Article: Collaborative Care for Perinatal Depression," Depression and Anxiety 32, no. 11 (2015): 821–34, https://doi.org/10.1002/da.22405; Grote et al.

- Vikki Wachino, "Maternal Depression Screening and Treatment: A Critical Role for Medicaid in the Care of Mothers and Children" (Baltimore, Maryland: Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, 2016), https://www.medicaid.gov/federal-policy-guidance/downloads/cib051116.pdf.
- Rebecca Britt et al., "U.S. 'Maternal Mental Health Dark Zones' Counties with the Highest Risk and Lowest Resources Revealed" (Washington DC: Policy Center for Maternal Mental Health, 2023), https://www.issuelab.org/resources/42984/42984.pdf.
- ²⁹ Britt et al. "U.S. 'Maternal Mental Health Dark Zones"
- "2023 National Survey on Drug Use and Health: Among Females Aged 12 or Older" (Rockville, Maryland: Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, 2024), https://www.samhsa.gov/data/sites/default/files/reports/rpt53159/2023-nsduh-pop-slides-female.pdf.
- "National Survey Of Substance Abuse Treatment Services (N-SSATS): 2020, Data On Substance Abuse Treatment Facilities" (Rockville, Maryland: Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, 2021), https://www.samhsa.gov/data/report/national-survey-substance-abuse-treatment-services-n-ssats-2020-data-substance-abuse.
- ³² Susanna L. Trost et al., "Preventing Pregnancy-Related Mental Health Deaths: Insights From 14 US Maternal Mortality Review Committees, 2008–17: Study Examines Maternal Mortality and Mental Health.," Health Affairs 40, no. 10 (2021): 1551–59, https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2021.00615.
- Heather Sandstrom, "Geographic Data Reveal Gaps in Home Visiting Services," Urban Wire (blog), 2021, https://www.urban.org/urban-wire/geographic-data-reveal-gaps-home-visiting-services.
- ³⁴ "Who Could Benefit? Priority Families" (National Home Visiting Resource Center, n.d.), https://nhvrc.org/yearbook/2024-yearbook/who-could-benefit/priority-families/.
- ³⁵ "About Home Visiting Results," n.d., https://nhvrc.org/reference-catalog/. "NHVRC Reference Catalog," n.d., https://nhvrc.org/reference-catalog/.

Affordable Housing Access and Rent Support

Access to safe and affordable housing is paramount for families with children and can impact long-term economic mobility. Many single mothers are at risk for housing instability—as a full-time worker's income is often not sufficient to afford rental or mortgage payments for adequate family housing.¹ In 2021, among single adults with children, 46 percent of single mothers were severely rent burdened (paying more than 50 percent of income on rent).² Moreover, the National Low-Income Housing Coalition estimates that there are only 34 affordable and available units for every 100 extremely low-income renters.³

Experiencing housing instability is dangerous, particularly for children; a large body of research connects homelessness and housing instability to adverse short- and long-term effects on children's physical and mental health and development.⁴ Access to stable, quality, and affordable housing is also a necessary foundation for upward mobility.⁵

77 percent of lowincome renters needing federal rental assistance do not receive it

17 percent of single mothers receive public housing subsidies, and 8 percent received rent subsidies in 2022

Public housing, housing choice vouchers, rental assistance, and tax credits are the primary policy mechanisms for helping renters. However, these programs are notoriously underfunded and have limited reach. Seventy-seven percent of low-income renters needing federal rental assistance do not receive it, 6- and in 2022, 17 percent of single mothers receive public housing subsidies, and 8 percent received rent subsidies. 7

Below is a table of policy levers that explain possible solutions to housing instability, which focus on both availability and affordability, as well as assistance. While two policies encourage markets to increase the stock of lower-cost housing, the remaining policy levers presented are geared toward helping families access affordable housing. Within each policy recommendation, there are further complexities to consider, with additional information provided in references. Although several policy levers exist that can empower homeownership, we focus here instead on strategies that could have the most impact for lower-income single mothers, who are more likely to be renters (around 85 percent of single mother renters were low-income).⁸

TABLE 1
Affordable Housing Policy Levers

Policy category	Policy recommendation	Description	Level
Housing supply	Expand Low-Income Housing Tax Credit Program (LIHTC)	Increase state LIHTC allocations to increase affordable housing construction and providing additional credits to states with high housing costs and inadequate recent housing production.	Federal/state
	Expand state and local policies permitting development of accessory dwelling units (ADU)	Allow development of ADUs through state and local policy, which can increase housing stock in single-family neighborhoods	State/local
Rent support	Expand the Housing Choice Voucher program	Expand accessibility to housing choice vouchers by fully funding the program	Federal/state
	Disincentivize policies criminalizing homelessness and increase funding for rapid re-housing and other permanent housing options	Disincentivize harmful policies such as the criminalization of homelessness to minimize harm to people while homeless and minimize additional burdens to resolving homelessness through fines and court fees, and work to decrease lengthy stays in family shelters by increasing funding for rehousing programs that move people out of shelter quickly	Federal/state/local

Source: Authors' analysis of policy levers.

Policy Details

Below are detailed summaries of how each policy lever can impact single mothers.

Expand Low-Income Housing Tax Credit Program (LIHTC)

The LIHTC is the only major source of subsidized funding for affordable housing construction. From 2000 to 2016, it supported the construction or rehabilitation of about 115,000 affordable rental units each year. In more recent years, this number has declined by a third. While the program faces many challenges, it has historically experienced bipartisan support. Increased funding, specifically increasing state allocations of credits and providing additional credits to states with high housing costs and inadequate recent housing production, is needed to expand affordable housing development and could be incorporated into tax legislation expected in 2025.

SCALE OF IMPACT

The reach of LIHTC is wide; between 2000 and 2019, an estimated 25 percent of new apartments were supported in part through LIHTC.¹⁰

EVIDENCE

Data on the program is relatively limited, but some evidence shows about half of households accessing LIHTC-funded housing are extremely low income, and 61 percent are rent burdened. Additionally, 29 percent of LIHTC households have at least one child. LIHTC support for more affordable housing construction can also increase accessibility of higher-performing schools.¹¹

Expand State and Local Policies Permitting Development of Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs) to Address Housing Shortages

ADUs are small second housing units that are built on the same lot as single-family homes, meant to address the shortage in housing by utilizing existing land. ADUs can be an effective solution for affordable rental costs, as studies have found that ADUs rent for lower amounts than primary residences. ADU laws, though with varying degrees of effectiveness due to regulatory restrictiveness, indicating the importance of not only implementing ADU laws but also ensuring they are written equitably and with community engagement. While there are a host of other levers that can increase housing supply—such as missing middle reforms, parking minimum reductions, or high-density upzonings—we focus on ADUs here as one example of such a reform.

SCALE OF IMPACT

California, as a case study, gave property owners the ability to add ADUs to their properties and removed zoning barriers. In 2022, ADUs were 18 percent of new residential construction in the state; if this practice was enacted nationwide, it is estimated that this would produce approximately 1.1 million units.¹⁴

EVIDENCE

Evidence is limited on how ADUs are linked to decreases in poverty or increases in mobility, but insights from the experiences in California suggest promising increases in affordable housing stock. Moreover, ADUs have been shown to be an affordable source of rental housing for lower-income renters in high-cost neighborhoods.

Expand the Housing Choice Voucher Program and Ensure It Is Adequately Funded

Formerly known as the Section 8 voucher, the Housing Choice Voucher program helps 2.3 million low-income households afford rent in the private market. Increasing or fully funding the program to avoid large gaps in coverage is critical. Additional strategies include targeting vouchers to populations at high risk of homelessness, including parents with young children.

SCALE OF IMPACT

Eight percent of single mothers receive subsidized rent, though expanded or full funding could reach many more given that an estimated 46 percent of single mothers are severely rent burdened.¹⁵

EVIDENCE

Housing vouchers reduce homelessness and housing instability, psychological distress in adults, domestic violence, and food insecurity, as well as improving child well-being.¹⁶

Disincentivize Policies Criminalizing Homelessness and Increase Funding for Rapid Rehousing and Other Permanent Housing Options

There are several policies focused on preventing homelessness, such as expanded emergency rental and housing assistance. Key community-based stakeholders we interviewed, however, also emphasized the experiences of and risks to single mothers already experiencing homelessness. A key policy lever to support those experiencing homelessness involves providing local jurisdictions with incentives to minimize criminalization of homelessness, which may actually complicate efforts to decrease homelessness¹⁷ and contributes to framing homelessness as individual, deviant behavior rather than a condition with structural roots. Additionally, reducing overcrowding in family shelters and prioritizing quick transitions to stable housing can be protective of children's mental health.

SCALE OF IMPACT

Twenty-nine percent of the total population of people experiencing homelessness are families with children.²⁰ Nearly 90 percent of families with children in shelters are headed by women.

EVIDENCE

Focusing on rapid rehousing can significantly improve outcomes for families. For example, researchers found that rapid rehousing strategies prevented 91 percent of families from returning to homelessness after one year.²¹ Other research found that children who had stayed in an emergency shelter but were

able to experience more stable housing situations and child care arrangements after their shelter experience exhibited fewer behavior problems 20 months later than those who did not.²²

Notes

- ¹ "Out of Reach: The High Cost of Housing" (Washington DC: National Low Income Housing Coalition, 2024), https://nlihc.org/oor.
- ² Talia Grossman, Sarah Hassmer, and Sarah Javaid, "The Continuing Need for Gender, Racial, and Disability Justice in the Rental System" (Washington DC: National Women's Law Center, 2024), https://nwlc.org/resource/the-continuing-need-for-gender-racial-and-disability-justice-in-the-rental-system/.
- ³ "The Gap: A Shortage of Affordable Homes" (Washington DC: National Low Income Housing Coalition, 2024), https://nlihc.org/gap.
- ⁴ Heather Sandstrom and Sandra Huerta, "The Negative Effects of Instability on Child Development: A Research Synthesis" (Washington DC: Urban Institute, 2013), https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/32706/412899-The-Negative-Effects-of-Instability-on-Child-Development-A-Research-Synthesis.PDF.
- Kriti Ramakrishnan et al., "Why Housing Matters for Upward Mobility: Evidence and Indicators for Practitioners and Policymakers Evidence and Indicators for Practitioners and Policymakers" (Washington DC: Urban Institute, 2021), https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/103472/why-housing-matters-for-upward-mobility-evidence-and-indicators-for-practitioners-and-policymakers.pdf.
- 6 "77% of Low-Income Renters Needing Federal Rental Assistance Don't Receive It" (Washington DC: Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, n.d.), https://www.cbpp.org/77-of-low-income-renters-needing-federal-rentalassistance-dont-receive-it.
- Sarah Flood et al., "IPUMS, Current Population Survey: Version 11.0" (Minneapolis, MN: IPUMS, 2023), https://doi.org/10.18128/D030.V11.0.
- ⁸ Sarah Flood et al., "IPUMS, Current Population Survey: Version 11.0."
- ⁹ "What Is the Low-Income Housing Tax Credit and How Does It Work?" (Washington DC: Urban Institute, 2024), https://taxpolicycenter.org/briefing-book/what-low-income-housing-tax-credit-and-how-does-it-work.
- Yonah Freemark and Corianne Payton Scally, "LIHTC Provides Much-Needed Affordable Housing, But Not Enough to Address Today's Market Demands," Urban Wire (blog), 2023, https://www.urban.org/urban-wire/lihtc-provides-much-needed-affordable-housing-not-enough-address-todays-market-demands.
- Corianne Payton Scally, Amanda Gold, and Nicole DuBois, "The Low Income Housing Tax Credit: How It Works and Who It Serves" (Washington DC: Urban Institute, 2018), https://www.novoco.com/public-media/documents/nyu_furman_center_effects_of_lihtc_0517.pdf. "The Effects of the Low-Income Housing Tax Credit (LIHTC)" (New York, New York: NYU Furman Center, 2017), https://www.novoco.com/public-media/documents/nyu_furman_center_effects_of_lihtc_0517.pdf.
- Vicki Been and John Infranca, "Responding to Changing Households: Regulatory Challenges for Micro-Units and Accessory Dwelling Units" (New York, New York: NYU Furman Center, 2014), https://furmancenter.org/research/publication/responding-to-changing-households-regulatory-challenges-for-micro-units-and.; Karen Chapple et al., "Yes in My Backyard: Mobilizing the Market for Secondary Units"

- (Berkeley, California: University of California Transportation Center, 2011), https://escholarship.org/uc/item/6fz8j6gx.
- ¹³ Christina Plerhoples Stacy et al., "Designing Accessory Dwelling Unit Regulations" (Washington DC: Urban Institute, 2020), https://www.urban.org/research/publication/designing-accessory-dwelling-unit-regulations.
- ¹⁴ Laurie Goodman, "To Increase the Housing Supply, Focus on ADU Financing" (Washington DC: Urban Institute, 2024), https://www.urban.org/research/publication/increase-housing-supply-focus-adu-financing.
- ¹⁵ Laurie Goodman, "To Increase the Housing Supply, Focus on ADU Financing."
- Marybeth Gubits et al., "Family Options Study: 3-Year Impacts of Housing and Services Interventions for Homeless Families" (Rockville, Maryland: Abt Associates, Inc., 2016), https://www.huduser.gov/portal/sites/default/files/pdf/Family-Options-Study-Full-Report.pdf.
- ¹⁷ Chris Herring, Dilara Yarbrough, and Lisa Marie Alatorre, "Pervasive Penality: How the Criminalization of Poverty Perpetuates Homelessness," Social Problems, 2019, https://doi.org/10.1093/socpro/spz004.
- Tasneem Owadally and Quinn Grundy, "From a Criminal to a Human-Rights Issue: Re-Imagining Policy Solutions to Homelessness," Policy, Politics, & Nursing Practice 24, no. 3 (2023): 178–86, https://doi.org/10.1177/15271544231176255.
- ¹⁹ Ann Oliva, "Ending Homelessness: Addressing Local Challenges in Housing the Most Vulnerable" (Washington DC: Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, 2022), https://www.cbpp.org/research/housing/ending-homelessness-addressing-local-challenges-in-housing-the-most-vulnerable; Katherine E. Marçal et al., "Understanding Mechanisms Driving Family Homeless Shelter Use and Child Mental Health," Journal of Social Service Research 47, no. 4 (2021): 473–85, https://doi.org/10.1080/01488376.2020.1831681.
- Tanya de Sousa et al., "The 2023 Annual Homelessness Assessment Report (AHAR) to Congress" (Rockville, Maryland: Abt Associates, Inc., 2023), https://www.huduser.gov/portal/sites/default/files/pdf/2023-AHAR-Part-1.pdf.
- Daniel Gubits et al., "Understanding Rapid Re-Housing: Systematic Review of Rapid Re-Housing Outcomes Literature" (Washington DC: U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development, 2018), https://www.huduser.gov/portal/publications/Systematic-Review-of-Rapid-Re-housing.html.
- Scott R. Brown, Marybeth Shinn, and Jill Khadduri, "Well-Being of Young Children after Experiencing Homelessness" (Washington DC: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2017), https://aspe.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/private/pdf/255741/homefambrief.pdf.

Expanded Tax Benefits

Refundable tax credits lift millions of people out of poverty, especially single mothers and their children. The **child tax credit** (CTC) is a proven tool to support families with children. In 2021, the American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) temporarily increased the maximum credit amount and made the full credit available to the lowest-income families. And unlike tax credits that are usually paid out once a year as part of a tax refund, half of the expanded credit was also paid out monthly during the second half of 2021. The ARPA changes reduced food insecurity, the number of children in poverty, housing insecurity, and other material hardships. These changes expired at the end of 2021, and the upcoming expiration of numerous temporary tax changes in 2025 enacted under the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (TCJA) provides an opportunity to expand the CTC, especially with recent bipartisan interest.

The earned income tax credit (EITC) benefits working people with low to moderate incomes and is a particularly important program for single mothers. Twenty-three million families received the EITC on their 2022 returns.³ Research examining the impact of multiple expansions of EITC over the last few decades finds that EITC increases employment participation for single mothers with low education by about 3 percent for every \$1,000 increase in the maximum credit.⁴ In contrast, the credit has not been found to increase employment among most married mothers.⁵ The EITC is also an important "two-generation" antipoverty strategy: research shows the EITC generates positive economic outcomes for children as they grow into adulthood, such as increasing high school and college completion rates, as well as employment rates and earnings.⁶ A body of literature further supports the EITC's impact on health improvements for mothers, better health and social outcomes for children, poverty reduction, improved labor outcomes, and increased household income.⁷

In 2021, ARPA made temporary changes to the EITC, notably increasing the amount of the credit available to "childless" workers, some of whom are noncustodial parents.⁸ However, the credit reverted to its earlier structure following that tax year.

When discussing reform for tax credits, it is important to highlight that complex family dynamics are increasingly common while traditional rhetoric and tax credit policy reform centers around promoting marriage and traditional family arrangements. Low-income parents are more likely to be single parents or cohabitating partners. Policy reform can reflect these realities by being marriage neutral, rather than incentivizing or disincentivizing marriage. Moreover, family caregiving arrangements may be complex and may not match a tax code's definition for qualifying children;

70 EXPANDED TAX BENEFITS

residency tests for the CTC require that the child live with relatives for more than half the year, though these experiences are often dynamic, especially in low-income households.¹⁰

Summary of Policy Levers

TABLE 1
Policy Levers for Tax Benefits

Policy recommendation	Description	Level
Expand the federal child tax credit for low-income families with children.	Increase the maximum CTC that low-income families with children can receive and include more rapid phase-in for families with more than one child.	Federal
Expand the federal EITC for "childless workers," including noncustodial parents.	Expand the maximum credit for adults without dependent children to improve support to noncustodial parents.	Federal
Expand implementation of and/or generosity of state-level credits.	Expand implementation of state- level CTCs or EITCs in states that do not offer them and increase generosity of state-level credits in states that do offer them.	State
Increase access to tax credits for ITIN filers.	Expand access to EITC to filers that use individual taxpayer identification numbers (ITINs).	Federal/state

Source: Authors' analysis of policy levers.

Policy Details

Below are detailed summaries of how each policy lever can impact single mothers.

Expand the CTC for Low-Income Families with Children

There are different approaches to modifying the CTC. The TCJA created a larger maximum credit and made the credit available to families with higher incomes (in part to offset other tax changes, like the temporary elimination of the personal exemption). ARPA temporarily made the maximum credit available for low-income families (including families reporting no income), which was paid out monthly. The TCJA approach was not fully supportive of families with low incomes, as it retained a work requirement; the ARPA expansion was notably impactful for cutting child poverty and reducing food

insecurity, as it removed the work requirement, increased the maximum credit, and provided a partial monthly payment.

Ultimately, this work and earnings requirements disproportionately impact single parents, who are required to work, as opposed to married couples, in which only one adult would be required to work.

Removing the work requirement would enable roughly 17 million children to be newly eligible. 11

However, a common concern with the CTC expansion is it could discourage credit recipients from working if made permanent. While the majority of the literature suggests modest work disincentives from a change like the ARPA expansion to the child credit, these concerns have continued to limit the range of policy options Congress is willing to consider, often in ways that continue to exclude the most vulnerable children. Thus maintaining the work requirement while expanding the credit to low-income working families with children and increasing the maximum credit, may have the most bipartisan support. A

SCALE OF IMPACT

Under the "Wyden-Smith" bill, which modifies the TCJA changes to increase the value of the credit for low-income families by having it phase in more rapidly for families with multiple children and increasing the maximum credit amount available to families with low incomes, 16 million children in families with low incomes would benefit.¹⁵

EVIDENCE

A total of 500,000 children would be lifted out of poverty, across all races and ethnicities. Specifically, it would help parents overrepresented in low-paying jobs, including single parents; for example, a single parent with two children who earns \$22,000 as a child care worker would gain \$675 in the first year. ¹⁶

Expand the EITC to Support Noncustodial Parents

ARPA temporarily raised the maximum credit for workers without children from about \$500 to \$1,500 and expanded eligibility to include workers 19 to 24 years of age and those 65 and older. Many low-income noncustodial parents fall into this "childless" category. Bipartisan support exists for expanding a childless EITC, specifically for lowering the age limit again to 21, tripling the maximum credit, and doubling the phase-in and phase-out rates.

72 EXPANDED TAX BENEFITS

SCALE OF IMPACT

Estimates suggest 40 percent of "childless workers" are parents, and 5 percent are noncustodial parents of minor children.¹⁹

EVIDENCE

An expanded "singles" EITC may improve outcomes for children through the noncustodial parent pathway. In the NYC Paycheck Plus demonstration, which simulated an expanded credit for adults not living with children, child support payments increased among noncustodial parents.²⁰ Findings from Paycheck Plus also indicated that noncustodial parents experienced improvement in psychological distress.²¹

Expand Implementation or Generosity of State-Level Credits

States are leading the way on expanding access to tax credits; 31 states and DC have a state EITC.²²

Key recommendations for states with an existing EITC, as well as future design considerations for those without one, include the following:

- Expanding generosity (percentage of the federal credit)
- Making the state credit fully refundable (currently refundable in all but four states: Missouri,
 Ohio, South Carolina, and Utah)
- Expanding the benefit to noncustodial parents (as was done in DC, Maine, and Maryland)

Notably, for states without a state-level EITC, it is not required for a state to have an income tax; in 2021, Washington became the first state without one to enact a state EITC, which instead requires an application and disburses the benefit based on the filer's income and family size.²³

Additionally, 14 states have a state CTC. Similar recommendations apply, including full refundability and expanding eligibility to ITIN filers. Other specific recommendations include the following:

- Removing the earnings requirement
- Phasing in the credit on a per-child basis, rather than setting a household maximum, to avoid penalizing children in large families

- Making the credit available monthly, as was done during the ARPA expansion, which has been shown to meet financial needs in real-time
- Enacting a CTC as a percentage of the federal credit, if the state is unable to launch a standalone credit²⁴

EVIDENCE

A refundable state EITC of at least 10 percent of the federal EITC (enacted in 22 of the 31 states) is associated with household economic security, and similar to the federal EITC, has the greatest effects for single mothers and their children.²⁵ In almost all states, a refundable state-level CTC would reduce child poverty by 25 percent.²⁶

Expand Access of Tax Credits to Filers Using an ITIN

Allowing filers using an individual taxpayer identification number (ITIN) to claim the state and federal EITC is a key recommendation (currently 10 states and DC offer this for the state-level EITC).²⁷ All wage earners are required to pay taxes, regardless of immigration status. ITIN filers are often undocumented workers who pay taxes but cannot access the federal credit due to lack of a valid Social Security number. In addition, some individuals who have ITINs are lawfully present in the US, such as certain survivors of domestic violence, Cuban and Haitian entrants, and certain spouses and children of individuals with employment visas.²⁸

EVIDENCE

A federal EITC expanding eligibility to ITIN filers could reach between 1.8 and 3 million additional households.²⁹

Notes

- ¹ Kalee Burns and Liana Fox, "The Impact of the 2021 Expanded Child Tax Credit on Child Poverty," United States Census Bureau, 2023, 23, https://www.census.gov/library/working-papers/2022/demo/SEHSD-wp2022-24.html.
- Allison Bovell-Ammon et al., "Association of the Expiration of Child Tax Credit Advance Payments With Food Insufficiency in US Households," JAMA Network Open 5, no. 10 (2022): e2234438, https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2022.34438; Michael Karpman et al., "Child Tax Credit Recipients Experienced a Larger Decline in Food Insecurity and a Similar Change in Employment as Nonrecipients between 2020 and 2021," (Washington, DC: Urban Institute, 2022), https://www.urban.org/research/publication/child-

74 EXPANDED TAX BENEFITS

tax-credit-recipients-experienced-larger-decline-food-insecurity-and; Natasha V. Pilkauskas, Katherine Michelmore, and Nicole Kovoski, "The Effects of the 2021 Child Tax Credit on Housing Affordability and the Living Arrangements of Families With Low Incomes" Demography 61, no. 4 (2024): 1069–1096, https://doi.org/10.1215/00703370-11458327; Megan A. Curran, "Research Roundup of the Expanded Child Tax Credit: One Year On," Center on Poverty and Social Policy at Columbia University 6, no. 9 (2022): 63, https://povertycenter.columbia.edu/publication/2022/child-tax-credit/research-roundup-one-year-on.

- ³ "Statistics for Tax Returns with the Earned Income Tax Credit (EITC)" (Washington DC: International Revenue Service, n.d.), https://www.eitc.irs.gov/eitc-central/statistics-for-tax-returns-with-eitc/statistics-for-tax-returns-with-the-earned-income#Previous%20Tax%20Years.
- Diane Whitmore Schanzenbach and Michael Strain, "Employment Effects of the Earned Income Tax Credit: Taking the Long View" (Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research, 2020), https://doi.org/10.3386/w28041.
- Aparna Jayashankar, Xiaohan Zhang, and Jason Saving, "EITC Increases Labor Force Participation among Married Black Mothers" (Dallas: Federal Reserve Bank of Dallas, 2023), https://www.dallasfed.org/cd/communities/2023/2305.
- ⁶ Jacob Bastian and Katherine Michelmore, "The Long-Term Impact of the Earned Income Tax Credit on Children's Education and Employment Outcomes," Journal of Labor Economics 36, no. 4 (2018): 1127–63, https://econpapers.repec.org/article/ucpjlabec/doi_3a10.1086_2f697477.html.
- William N. Evans and Craig L. Garthwaite, "Giving Mom a Break: The Impact of Higher EITC Payments on Maternal Health," American Economic Journal: Economic Policy 6, no. 2 (2014): 258–90, https://doi.org/10.1257/pol.6.2.258; David Simon, Mark McInerney, and Sarah Goodell, "The Earned Income Tax Credit, Poverty, And Health" (HealthAffairs, 2018), https://doi.org/10.1377/hpb20180817.769687; Chuck Marr et al., "EITC and Child Tax Credit Promote Work, Reduce Poverty, and Support Children's Development, Research Finds" (Washington DC: Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, 2015), https://www.cbpp.org/research/eitc-and-child-tax-credit-promote-work-reduce-poverty-and-support-childrens-development; David Neumark and Peter Shirley, "The Long-Run Effects of the Earned Income Tax Credit on Women's Labor Market Outcomes," Labour Economics 66 (2020), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.labeco.2020.101878; Austin Nichols and Jesse Rothstein, "The Earned Income Tax Credit (EITC)" (Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research, 2015), https://doi.org/10.3386/w21211.
- Margot L. Crandall-Hollick, "The 'Childless' EITC: Temporary Expansion for 2021 Under the American Rescue Plan Act of 2021 (ARPA; P.L. 117-2)" (Washington DC: Congressional Research Service, 2021), https://crsreports.congress.gov/product/pdf/IN/IN11610.
- Elaine Maag, Elizabeth Peters, and Sara Edelstein, "Increasing Family Complexity and Volatility: The Dfficiulty in Determining Child Tax Benefits" (Washington DC: Urban Institute, 2016), https://taxpolicycenter.org/sites/default/files/alfresco/publication-pdfs/2000641-increasing-family-complexity-and-volatility-the-difficulty-in-determining-child-tax-benefits.pdf.
- Patrick A. Landers and Margot L. Crandall-Hollick, "Child Tax Benefits and Children with Complex or Dynamic Living Arrangements" (Washington DC: Congressional Research Service, 2021), https://crsreports.congress.gov/product/pdf/IN/IN11634.
- Elaine Maag, "17 Million Children In Low-Income Families Will Not Receive The Full Child Tax Credit In 2025," TaxVox (blog), 2024, https://taxpolicycenter.org/taxvox/17-million-children-low-income-families-will-not-receive-full-child-tax-credit-2025.
- ¹² For a contemporaneous accounting of the debate over extending the ARPA expanded child tax credit due to its potential impact on parental employment, see Glenn Kessler, "Analysis | The Battle over Biden's Child Tax Credit

- and Its Impact on Poverty and Workers," Washington Post, November 8, 2021, https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/2021/11/08/battle-over-bidens-child-tax-credit-its-impact-poverty-workers/.
- ¹³ See for example H.R. 7024 in the 118th Congress, which provided modest increases in the child credit for low-income families with children, but still excluded the lowest-income families. A discussion of the impact of that bill can be found in Kris Cox et al., "About 16 Million Children in Low-Income Families Would Gain in First Year of Bipartisan Child Tax Credit Expansion" (Washington DC: Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, 2024), https://www.cbpp.org/research/federal-tax/about-16-million-children-in-low-income-families-would-gain-in-first-year-of; See also Jacob Bastian, "How Would a Permanent 2021 Child Tax Credit Expansion Affect Poverty and Employment?" National Tax Journal 77, no. 2 (2024): 263–311, https://doi.org/10.1086/728703; Schanzenbach and Strain, "Employment Effects of the Earned Income Tax Credit"; Emily Wielk, Andrew Lautz, and Rachel Snyderman, "Assessing the Potential Employment and Poverty-Reduction Effects of an Expanded Child Tax Credit" (Bipartisan Policy Center, 2023), https://bipartisanpolicy.org/report/employment-poverty-reduction-effects-ctc/.
- Margot Crandall-Hollick, "Congress Could Again Help Low-Income Workers With An Expanded Childless EITC," TaxVox (blog), 2024, https://taxpolicycenter.org/taxvox/congress-could-again-help-low-income-workers-expanded-childless-eitc.
- ¹⁵ "Child Tax Credit Proposal: Impacts by the Numbers" (Washington DC: Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, 2024), https://www.cbpp.org/research/federal-tax/child-tax-credit-proposal-impacts-by-the-numbers.
- ¹⁶ "Child Tax Credit Proposal: Impacts by the Numbers."
- Chuck Marr, "A Clear Policy Choice: Repeat Success by Expanding the EITC for Adults Without Children" (Washington DC: Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, n.d.), https://www.cbpp.org/blog/a-clear-policy-choice-repeat-success-by-expanding-the-eitc-for-adults-without-children.
- ¹⁸ Crandall-Hollick, "Congress Could Again Help Low-Income Workers With An Expanded Childless EITC"; Douglas Holtz-Eakin, Ben Gitis, and Curtis Arndt, "The Work and Safety Net Effects of Expanding the Childless EITC" (Washington DC: American Action Forum, 2016), https://www.americanactionforum.org/research/the-work-and-safety-net-effects-of-expanding-the-childless-eitc/.
- ¹⁹ Lauren Bauer, Bradley Hardy, and Olivia Howard, "The Safety Net Should Work for Working-Age Adults" (Washington DC: The Hamilton Project, 2024), https://www.hamiltonproject.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/04/20240417_THP_SafetyNet_BauerEtAl_Paper.pdf.
- ²⁰ Cynthia Miller et al., "Boosting the Earned Income Tax Credit for Singles Final Impact Findings from the Paycheck Plus Demonstration in New York City" (New York, New York: MDRC, 2018), https://mdrc.org/sites/default/files/PaycheckPlus_ES_0.pdf.
- Emilie Courtin et al., "Effect of Expanding the Earned Income Tax Credit to Americans Without Dependent Children on Psychological Distress," American Journal of Epidemiology 191, no. 8 (2022): 1444–52, https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwab164.
- ²² "How Do State Earned Income Tax Credits Work?" (Washington DC: Urban Institute, 2024), https://taxpolicycenter.org/briefing-book/how-do-state-earned-income-tax-credits-work.
- ²³ "How Do State Earned Income Tax Credits Work?"
- Aidan Davis and Neva Butkus, "States Are Boosting Economic Security with Child Tax Credits in 2023" (Washington DC: Institute on Taxation and Economic Policy, 2023), https://itep.org/states-are-boosting-economic-security-with-child-tax-credits-in-2023/.

76

- ²⁵ "State Earned Income Tax Credit" (Nashville, Tennessee: Prenatal-to-3 Policy Impact Center, n.d.), https://pn3policy.org/pn-3-state-policy-roadmap-2023/us/state-eitc/.
- ²⁶ Sophie Collyer et al., "State Child Tax Credits and Child Poverty: A 50-State Analysis" (Washington DC: Institute on Taxation and Economic Policy, 2022), https://itep.org/state-child-tax-credits-and-child-poverty-50-state-analysis/.
- 27 "Map of States That Offer Earned Income Tax Credits (EITCs) to Taxpayer Identification Numbers (ITINs) Filers" (Washington DC: National Immigration Law Center, 2023), https://www.nilc.org/resources/tax-credit-itin-filers/.
- ²⁸ "FAQ: Individual Taxpayer Identification Number (ITIN): A Powerful Tool for Immigrant Taxpayers" (Washington DC: National Immigration Law Center, 2024), https://www.nilc.org/resources/itinfaq/.
- ²⁹ Marco Guzman and Emma Sifre, "Improving Refundable Tax Credits by Making Them Immigrant-Inclusive" (Washington DC: Institute on Taxation and Economic Policy, 2024), https://itep.org/undocumented-immigrants-child-tax-credit-eitc/.

Financial Resilience, Stability, and Well-Being

Competing Financial Demands

28 percent of single-mother households were poor in 2022, compared with 15 percent of single-father households and just 5 percent of married parents

Single-parent households, and especially those headed by single mothers, have disproportionately low incomes, often the result of low-quality jobs (see Job Quality and Workforce Development sections). In 2022, the median household income for single-mother families was \$40,000, significantly less than the median for single-father households (\$56,784)¹ and well below the overall US median household income of \$74,580.²

Using the official poverty measure, 28 percent of single-mother households experienced poverty in 2022, compared with 15 percent of single-father households and just 5 percent of married parents. Despite high participation in the labor force (where three in four hold a full- or part-time role), single mothers have lower incomes and are more likely to be in poverty than single fathers or married mothers.³

High levels of expenses further hinder single mothers' ability to save. Single-parent households face a higher burden of child care expenses, ^{4,5} and rent costs 70 percent of the average single mother's salary, indicating they are severely rent burdened.⁶

Limited Access to Tangible Financial Resources

Unbanked individuals cite inability to meet minimum balance requirements and lack of trust as key reasons they do not have an account.⁷ About 15 percent of single-parent households are unbanked, more than three times the national average, according to the FDIC.⁸ Over half of single parents reporting having a credit card, personal loan, or line of credit, compared with the national average of 72 percent.⁹ Finally, single parents are more likely to report using non-bank financial services, such as check-cashing services or money orders,¹⁰ as well as high-cost products like payday loans.¹¹

Lower Rates of Wealth

Single parents also have fewer assets to rely on as a buffer for economic shocks and to use as a foundation for building wealth. Single mothers are more likely to have lower levels of retirement savings¹² and are more likely to rely on Social Security for their post-retirement living expenses than married individuals,¹³ and have lower homeownership rates than single women without children and single men.¹⁴

As a result of these overlapping constraints, few single mother families have resources left over to save and invest in asset-building opportunities. The disparities in wealth between single mothers and other households is stark: in 2022, the median net worth, or wealth (defined as total value of assets minus debt) of all US households was \$176,300, but only \$10,700 among single-mother households. Mirroring the overall population, single mothers of color have lower levels of wealth than white single mothers. According to a report by the St. Louis Federal Reserve Bank, single white mothers have 11 times the wealth of their Black and Latina counterparts.

Ultimately, building financial stability requires intervention on various fronts, including by increasing the tangible financial resources available via increasing wages and eligibility for and generosity of safety net supports, as well as by reducing the impact of large expenditures on household budgets that induce material hardship, such as via housing subsidies, child care support, and others. We discuss these programs at length in other sections and focus in this section on specific **financial resilience** (building liquidity or resources to respond to an income or expense shock) and **wealth-building** (being able to save and accumulate money) policy levers.

TABLE 1
Financia Well-being Policy Levers

Policy category	Policy recommendation	Description	Level
Financial resilience	Improve access to affordable and safe credit	Reduce barriers to credit through recognition of alternatives or expansion of special purpose credit programs	Lending Institutions for specific populations or places
	Expand and strengthen small- dollar loans	Expand access to small-dollar loans, via employer-sponsored programs or banks and credit unions	Employers or lending institutions, as well as federal regulators of these sectors
	Expand testing of and research on guaranteed income (GI) programs	Expand research on GI pilots and their interaction with tax and transfer programs and assess their effectiveness on family financial stability	State/local
Wealth building	Expand and strengthen early life	Expand statewide child development accounts (CDAs) and "baby bonds"	State

Policy category	Policy recommendation	Description	Level
	wealth-building accounts		
	Expand incentivized savings models	Expand incentivized savings models, such as individual development accounts (IDAs)	Multiple levels (can be partnerships among government agencies or nonprofits with lending institutions)
	Increase access to mainstream financial tools	Reduce share of unbanked mothers and increase access to safer banking options for those with bank accounts by encouraging use of "Bank On" accounts	State/local/lending institutions

Source: Authors' analysis of policy levers.

Policy Details

Below are detailed summaries of how each policy lever can impact single mothers.

Improve Access to Affordable and Safe Credit

In October 2024, the US Treasury released a *National Strategy for Financial Inclusion in the US*,¹⁷ which outlines multiple policy and practice options for increasing access to safe and more affordable financial tools and products. Specifically, people who need to establish or improve their credit score are sometimes stymied by a lack of documented transactions that are recognized by credit bureaus. Some of the Treasury's recommendations include the following:

- Encourage credit bureaus and lenders to recognize alternatives that consumers consent to monitoring, such as bank account flow or utility payments. Further, ensure landlords and utility providers reflect positive repayment behaviors that can be utilized as these alternatives.
- Use the authority provided by the Equal Credit Opportunity Act to expand Special Purpose Credit Programs (SPCP)¹⁸ to expand credit options for borrowers who have experienced economic disadvantage or share specific characteristics, such as women and consumers of color. Given higher rates of financial hardship among single mothers of color, this may be a promising strategy. SPCPs can also be people or place-based and can increase access to affordable credit for needs such as home-buying.

SCALE OF IMPACT

Over half of single parents have a credit card, personal loan, or line of credit in the prior 12 months, lower than the national average of adults (72 percent).¹⁹

EVIDENCE

Evidence shows SPCPs can reduce racial inequities in homeownership,²⁰ and are an important tool to expand access to credit.²¹ Increasing access to affordable credit can help reduce expenses incurred by low-income families.²²

Expand Access to Small-Dollar Loans through Employers and Lenders

Employers can collaborate with financial institutions to offer employees small-dollar loans (employer-sponsored small dollar loans, or ESSDLs), which can help cover short-term financial emergencies that may otherwise disrupt earnings. Similarly, lenders can initiate their own small-dollar lending programs. The financial institutions utilize "underwriting criteria," such as income and length of employment in good standing, to avoid predatory lending practices, especially for those with no or poor credit. This makes small-dollar loans an effective strategy for single mothers, who have lower rates of accessing credit.

EVIDENCE

Data show employers are generally satisfied with loan programs, perceive them as mutually beneficial to their company and employees, and feel ESSDL is a safer alternative to riskier loan strategies, like payday loans.²³ Lending programs also show low barriers to take-up and positive outcomes; an evaluation of an FDIC two-year small-dollar loan pilot showed that opting in for banks was low-effort and helped create long-term relationships with consumers.²⁴ Overall, small-dollar loans that can be easily repaid help single mothers weather unexpected financial expenses and provide an opportunity for successful repayment that can then facilitate access to other financial products in the future.²⁵

Expand Testing of and Research on Guaranteed Income Programs

Multiple local communities are experimenting with guaranteed basic income programs that provide regular cash payments to supplement the resources of specific groups of people. Unlike universal basic income strategies, guaranteed income initiatives are targeted to those with greater need, such as new moms with low income, provide varied levels of financial support, and vary in their duration.

EVIDENCE

Research on outcomes from these programs is still emerging, but early insights suggest that these programs can help people better meet basic needs and facilitate pursuit of education or entrepreneurship for some participants. ^{26,27} Targeting low-income women or single mothers for GI programs may also show promise, as evidenced by the In Her Hands initiative being piloted in Georgia, which provides \$4,300 (as lump sum or 24 month disbursement). ²⁸ Effects on employment effort appear modest, in contrast to concerns that providing direct cash assistance is a major disincentive to work. However, time-limited programs may not improve long-term financial stability, especially if the scale of the intervention and amount of money provided is low, and ongoing research and state and local pilots and evaluations can help identify which models may produce the most promising outcomes for families.

Expand Early Life Wealth-Building Accounts to Support Intergenerational Wealth

Child development accounts (CDAs) such as "baby bonds" are types of early life wealth-building accounts that are designed to (1) promote savings and asset building through a child's life and (2) to provide "start-up capital" that can be used for postsecondary education, purchasing a home (a primary source of wealth in the US), or developing a business enterprise as the child enters adulthood. These accounts can be funded and administered by government, nonprofit, corporate, or philanthropic partners. While the vision for early life wealth-building accounts is to offer a universal benefit with automatic enrollment at birth, these initiatives can target additional resources to children with higher need. State administration can also allow for public benefit exclusions so that a family's eligibility for means-tested programs like SNAP or TANF is not affected by the accrual of funds in these accounts.

EVIDENCE

To date, seven states have implemented some type of statewide, automatic, universal CDA program.³² Research has documented positive impacts on asset accumulation, parental attitudes toward long-term development, parent-child interactions, and social-emotional development of children. Simulation models of a federal baby bond investing \$1,000 per newborn and up to \$2,000 annually predict reductions in the racial-ethnic wealth gap.³³ If designed with progressive investments and targeted to families with low assets, these accounts can contribute to reductions in wealth disparities.³⁴

Expand Other Incentivized Savings Models

The Assets for Independence demonstration program, authorized by Congress in 1998, funded individual development accounts (IDAs), which are a type of incentivized saving model that matches personal savings for assets such as a first home, business capitalization, or higher education and training. While similar in terms of how accrued funds can be spent by program participants, IDAs are often targeted to adults and incentivize saving of investible sums through matched savings (while early wealth building accounts may be capitalized without requiring beneficiaries to deposit their own savings, depending on the program design). Both early life wealth-building accounts and IDAs can incorporate financial coaching as a supplementary tool to enhance participants' financial capability by providing timely and relevant financial information to inform how to use saved funds or save for deposits.

EVIDENCE

An evaluation of Assets for Independence found that the program increased savings, helped low-income earners acquire assets, and improved participants' financial well-being.³⁵ Other research finds that IDAs improve savings outcomes for single mothers,³⁶ suggesting that this may be a promising strategy to help build wealth of single mothers.

Increase Access to Mainstream Financial Tools via "Bank On" Accounts

Many low-income individuals face barriers in accessing traditional bank accounts. However, the use of a transaction account at an insured and FDIC-backed institution can allow consumers to receive, save, and send funds in a safer and more affordable manner. Bank accounts are also often required to apply for credit or loans. A promising strategy includes encouraging financial institutions to offer certified "Bank On" accounts,³⁷ which are also outlined in the US Treasury National Strategy. These accounts are low or no cost, do not charge overdraft fees and many can be opened online, which can facilitate ease of access.

SCALE OF IMPACT

About 15 percent of single-parent households are unbanked, and 27 percent of low-income single parents (below \$30,000) are unbanked.³⁸

EVIDENCE

Access to banking for unbanked single mothers, and access to safer banking accounts such as "Bank On" accounts even among single mothers that do have bank accounts, can allow single mothers to interact with mainstream systems and gain access to tools often essential to applying for credit and loans.

Notes

- ¹ Isabela Salas-Betsch, "The Economic Status of Single Mothers" (Washington DC: Center for American Progress, 2024), https://www.americanprogress.org/article/the-economic-status-of-single-mothers/.
- ² Gloria Guzman and Melissa Kollar, "Income in the United States: 2022" (Washington DC: U.S. Census Bureau, 2023), https://www.census.gov/library/publications/2023/demo/p60-279.html.
- ³ Isabela Salas-Betsch, "The Economic Status of Single Mothers" (Washington DC: Center for American Progress, 2024), https://www.americanprogress.org/article/the-economic-status-of-single-mothers/.
- ⁴ Jane Fillion, "BLS Report Finds Price of Child Care 'Untenable for All Families'" (Washington DC: The First Five Years Fund, 2023), https://www.ffyf.org/resources/2023/01/new-bls-report-finds-price-of-child-care-untenable-for-all-families.
- "The Impact of the High Cost of Child Care: How the High Cost of Childcare Impacts America," The Annie E. Casey Foundation (blog), 2024, https://www.aecf.org/blog/how-the-high-cost-of-child-care-hurts-families-workers-economy.
- ⁶ Cynthia Griffith, "Single Mothers Are at Greater Risk of Homelessness" (Los Angeles, California: invisible PEOPLE, 2023), https://invisiblepeople.tv/single-mothers-are-at-greater-risk-of-homelessness/.
- 7 "2023 FDIC National Survey of Unbanked and Underbanked Households" (Washington DC: Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, 2024), https://www.fdic.gov/household-survey.
- Susan Burhouse and Yazmin Osaki, "Single Parents: Financial Resilience, Banking, and Mobile Technology" (Washington DC: Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, 2024), https://www.fdic.gov/consumer-research/single-parents-financial-resilience-banking-and-mobile-technology.
- 9 Susan Burhouse and Yazmin Osaki, "Single Parents: Financial Resilience, Banking, and Mobile Technology."
- ¹⁰ Susan Burhouse and Yazmin Osaki, "Single Parents: Financial Resilience, Banking, and Mobile Technology."
- ¹¹ Amy J. Schmitz, "Females on the Fringe: Considering Gender in Payday Lending Policy," Chi.-Kent L. Rev. 89, no. 1 (2014), https://scholarship.kentlaw.iit.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=3991&context=cklawreview.
- Richard Fry, "Among Unmarried Adults, Women without Children Have as Much Wealth as Single Men" (Washington DC: Pew Research Center, 2024), https://www.pewresearch.org/short-reads/2024/11/04/among-unmarried-adults-women-without-children-have-as-much-wealth-as-single-men/.
- ¹³ Zhe Li and Paul S. Davies, "Income for the Population Aged 65 and Older: Evidence from the Health Retirement Study (HRS)" (Washington DC: Congressional Research Service, 2022), https://crsreports.congress.gov/product/pdf/R/R47341/3; Laura Valle Gutierrez, "New Data Demonstrates Mothers' Retirement Insecurity" (Washington DC: The Century Foundation, 2023), https://tcf.org/content/report/new-data-demonstrates-mothers-retirement-insecurity/.

- Richard Fry, "Among Unmarried Adults, Women without Children Have as Much Wealth as Single Men" (Washington DC: Pew Research Center, 2024), https://www.pewresearch.org/short-reads/2024/11/04/among-unmarried-adults-women-without-children-have-as-much-wealth-as-single-men/.
- ¹⁵ Richard Fry, "Among Unmarried Adults, Women without Children Have as Much Wealth as Single Men."
- Ana Hernández Kent, "Single Mothers Face Difficulties with Slim Financial Cushions" (St. Louis, Missouri: Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis, 2022), https://www.stlouisfed.org/on-the-economy/2022/may/single-mothers-slim-financial-cushions.
- ¹⁷ "National Strategy for Financial Inclusion in the United States" (Washington DC: U.S. Department of Treasury, 2024), https://home.treasury.gov/news/press-releases/jy2692.
- ¹⁸ "The Special Purpose Credit Program Data Toolkit," Urban Institute, n.d., https://www.urban.org/projects/special-purpose-credit-program-data-toolkit.
- Susan Burhouse and Yazmin Osaki, "Single Parents: Financial Resilience, Banking, and Mobile Technology" (Washington DC: Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, 2024), https://www.fdic.gov/consumer-research/single-parents-financial-resilience-banking-and-mobile-technology.
- Jung Hyun Choi, Liam Reynolds, and Vanessa G. Perry, "How Place-Based Special Purpose Credit Programs Can Reduce the Racial Homeownership Gap," Urban Wire (blog), 2022, https://www.urban.org/urban-wire/how-place-based-special-purpose-credit-programs-can-reduce-racial-homeownership-gap.
- ²¹ "Using Special Purpose Credit Programs to Expand Equality" (Washington DC: National Fair Housing Alliance, 2020), https://nationalfairhousing.org/resource/using-special-purpose-credit-programs-to-expand-equality/.
- ²² Diana Elliott and Ricki Granetz Lowitz, "What Is the Cost of Poor Credit?" (Washington DC: Urban Institute, 2018), https://www.urban.org/sites/default/files/publication/99021/what_is_the_cost_of_poor_credit_1.pdf.
- ²³ Heather Hahn et al., "Employer-Sponsored Small-Dollar Loans: A Survey of Products and Employers" (Washington DC: Urban Institute, 2020), https://www.urban.org/research/publication/employer-sponsored-small-dollar-loans-survey-products-and-employers.
- 24 "A Template for Success: The FDIC's Small-Dollar Loan Pilot Program," Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation 4, no. 2 (2010), https://www.fdic.gov/analysis/quarterly-banking-profile/fdic-quarterly/2010-vol4-2/fdic-quarterly-vol4no2-smalldollar.pdf.
- "Interagency Lending Principles for Offering Responsible Small-Dollar Loans" (Washington DC: Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, 2020), https://www.occ.gov/news-issuances/news-releases/2020/nr-ia-2020-65a.pdf.
- Alexander Bartik et al., "The Impact of Unconditional Cash Transfers on Consumption and Household Balance Sheets: Experimental Evidence from Two US States" (Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research, 2024), https://doi.org/10.3386/w32784.
- Stacia West et al., "Preliminary Analysis: SEED's First Year" (Stockton, California, n.d.), https://static1.squarespace.com/static/6039d612b17d055cac14070f/t/6050294a1212aa40fdaf773a/161586 6187890/SEED_Preliminary+Analysis-SEEDs+First+Year_Final+Report_Individual+Pages+.pdf.
- ²⁸ Katie Ragsdale et al., "Participatory Research for Guaranteed Income: In Her Hands," Social Policy Institute Participatory Research (blog), 2024, https://socialpolicyinstitute.wustl.edu/participatory-research-forguaranteed-income-in-her-hands/.
- ²⁹ Darrick Hamilton and William Darity, "Can 'Baby Bonds' Eliminate the Racial Wealth Gap in Putative Post-Racial America?," The Review of Black Political Economy 37, no. 3–4 (2010): 207–16, https://doi.org/10.1007/s12114-010-9063-1.

85

- Madeline Brown and Samantha Atherton, "Baby Bonds and Child Development Accounts Need to Provide Meaningful Funding Amounts to Make a Difference. Where Could the Money Come From?," Urban Wire (blog), 2024, https://www.urban.org/urban-wire/baby-bonds-and-child-development-accounts-need-provide-meaningful-funding-amounts-make.
- ³¹ "Child Development Accounts," n.d., https://csd.wustl.edu/child-development-accounts/.
- "Child Development Accounts" (Madison, Wisconsin: University of Wisconsin Population Health Institute, 2022), https://www.countyhealthrankings.org/strategies-and-solutions/what-works-for-health/strategies/child-development-accounts.
- Damir Cosic et al., "Modeling the Impact of a Federal Baby Bonds Program" (Washington DC: Urban Institute, 2024), https://www.urban.org/research/publication/modeling-impact-federal-baby-bonds-program.
- Huang et al., "Asset Building and Child Development: A Policy Model for Inclusive Child Development Accounts," RSF: The Russell Sage Foundation Journal of the Social Sciences 7, no. 3 (2021): 176, https://doi.org/10.7758/rsf.2021.7.3.08.
- 35 Signe-Mary McKernan et al., "Building Savings, Ownership, and Financial Well-Being" (Washington DC: Urban Institute, 2020), https://www.urban.org/research/publication/building-savings-ownership-and-financial-well-being.
- Min Zhan, "Savings Outcomes of Single Mothers in Individual Development Accounts" (St. Louis, Missouri: Washington University in St. Louis, 2003), https://openscholarship.wustl.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1350&context=csd_research.
- ³⁷ "The CFE Fund's National Bank On Platform Supports Local Coalition and Financial Institution Efforts to Connect Consumers to Safe, Affordable Bank Accounts.," BankOn, n.d., https://joinbankon.org/about/.
- Susan Burhouse and Yazmin Osaki, "Single Parents: Financial Resilience, Banking, and Mobile Technology" (Washington DC: Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, 2024), https://www.fdic.gov/consumer-research/single-parents-financial-resilience-banking-and-mobile-technology.

Programmatic Efforts to Fill Policy Gaps

Throughout this report, we highlight the critical ways in which advancing new policies, or better funding existing policies, can support single mothers. However, gaps still exist in support. While the nonprofit and charitable sector cannot substitute for meaningful and well-funded government supports, community-based organizations often play a critical role in implementing policies on the ground, filling gaps in policy, and supporting single mothers in multiple domains. These organizations are especially important in states that have policies that are more restrictive, less generous, and do not prioritize the needs of single mothers. Below, we discuss some of the ways these organizations can help support single mothers' economic mobility.

Some organizations take a multisectoral approach, targeting multiple barriers single mothers face given the intersecting nature of challenges like employment, child care, and housing. The Jeremiah Program² and Family Scholar House,³ for example, both emphasize a two-generation approach in their programmatic efforts that centers family by working with mothers on educational attainment or workforce development, while concurrently providing educational opportunities for children and child care. They also provide reliable housing and other supportive services.⁴

Other organizations and programmatic efforts are more focused in their approaches and provide targeted supports to single mothers within specific sectors we discuss in this report. While by no means comprehensive, below we briefly highlight a few key examples to illustrate how community-based organizations are supporting single mothers, highlighting the work of some of the partner organizations we interviewed.

Child Care

The cost of child care is a major barrier for single mothers as they pursue careers and higher education. Some policy levers help offset or reduce the cost of child care but are inadequate to meet the need, and many single mothers seek assistance from community-based organizations to help cover the cost of child care.

For example, Child Care Resource & Referral agencies (CCR&Rs) serve as resource hubs for families and help with referrals to local child care. 4C for Children, a private nonprofit CCR&R based in Cincinnati, provides child care resource and referral services, as well as employment and training.⁵

The Mississippi Low Income Child Care Initiative (MLICCI) connects single mothers to child care assistance at a subsidized rate through initiatives like the Employment Equity for Single Moms (EESM) program.⁶ In addition, MLICCI provides emergency child care services to their participants to reduce the stress of obtaining child care while mothers pursue educational or professional opportunities.

To help reduce barriers to child care for student parents, the Jeremiah Program provides child care assistance for single student parents, through programs "helper hours," where moms in the program receive 10 hours each semester that can be used to compensate their neighbors for assisting with child care. Further, many community-based organizations, like the YMCA and YWCA, also often provide affordable community child care directly to families.⁷

Without the advocacy group [MLICCI]...I would have had to quit my job.... There wasn't a school that I could have taken them to that didn't charge at that point because they weren't old enough for school.

-Single mom in Mississippi

Job Quality

Policy efforts focus on improving job quality via wages, scheduling, worker protections, and better labor practices, programmatic efforts fill in gaps by helping single mothers access higher-quality jobs.

The Women's Bean Project, for example, provides employment to women (including single mothers) facing significant barriers to work in the food manufacturing field. The women in their program are employed and mentored on the intricacies of navigating and advancing through a career. Women's Bean also provides lessons in finding high-quality jobs and equipping women with the necessary qualifications for a career that matches their situation and skillset. After graduating from the program, many of the women step into entry-level career-building occupations.

Workforce Development and Access to Postsecondary Education

Local and state organizations play multiple roles in augmenting access to postsecondary education and workforce development programs like career pathway programs and apprenticeships. One way these organizations do this is by increasing access to child care; for example, college campuses can implement programmatic and structural changes to be considered family friendly, such as by offering family housing options within student housing, on-campus child care programs, resource centers, and other supports. Other organizations take similar approaches to supporting student parents and providing wraparound services, such as Family Scholar House and Generation Hope. 10

Community organizations may also operate apprenticeship programs for women that can offer an effective pipeline for better quality opportunities; for example, the Moore Community House has a Women in Construction Pre-apprenticeship in Mississippi that prepares women, primarily single mothers, to enter careers in skilled trades.¹¹

We're sheltered from that [unemployment] challenge right now because of the Jeremiah program. And it's one reason I decided to pursue a bachelor's degree because I realized that with the inflation of everything, we won't be able to really support, you know, life and have a good one.

-Single mom in TX

Health Care

Although federal programs like Medicaid aim to cover the service gaps experienced by lower-income Americans across the country, many single mothers still struggle with access to the health care services for themselves and their children. Programmatic efforts serve to assist families who need help in securing health care resources for their families, such as home-visiting programs, health care navigation, insurance navigation, addiction recovery, and other direct services.

Home-visiting programs are an important and accessible way to connect with at-risk pregnant individuals and postpartum mothers, but awareness or accessibility of programming is low. Mary's

Center serves families in Washington, DC, and Maryland through home visiting programs that "provide information, resources, and skills that create happier children, healthier relationships, and stronger households." ¹² Mental health and substance-use disorder services are important tools in aiding single mothers achieve stability. The Institute for Health & Recovery in Massachusetts provides multidisciplinary, peer led, recovery oriented, wraparound support for pregnant, postpartum, and parenting women with a history of substance use. Their services are offered in their offices, homes, and community spaces. ¹³

"[The home visitor] put in a referral [for a therapist.] The therapist gave me a call...and she asked me... "Have you heard about the Jeremiah Program...it's a program for single moms who are in college...." That was that was my miracle.

-Single mom in TX

Efforts are emerging that integrate attention to maternal mental health into program models that address food insecurity, such as in the FreshRX: Nourishing Healthy Starts program in St. Louis. ¹⁴ Although social support programs do not necessarily provide health care services, they do offer benefits outreach and case coordination to help lower the administrative burden on single mothers. Many organizations reported helping single mothers apply for Medicaid, CHIP, WIC, and other nutrition or health care–based programs.

Housing

Current policy levers to support low-income individuals in their search for affordable housing are limited, and many still experience housing instability due to the notorious underfunding of these programs. Community-based programs can often assist with housing navigation services or provide more emergency services such as shelters.

Many programs may also take an integrated approach. The Jobs Plus initiatives pairs employment-related services like job placement and work readiness with residents of public housing. As noted above, organizations like the Jeremiah Program provide their single mothers with reliable housing, including subsidized rent during the entirety of the mother's tenure in the program.¹⁵ Other organizations such as

the Catholic Charities Archdiocese of Washington¹⁶ and Fellowship Housing¹⁷ offer similar programs with the goal to achieve self-sufficiency by the conclusion of the program. This includes maintaining compliance with their lease and professional goals, financial management, and credit repair.

Tax Policy

Tax credits are primarily federal and state-level policy levers, and it is critical to ensure families are aware of these options to ensure they are receiving the benefits that they're eligible for. Advocacy organizations and Volunteer Income Tax Assistance (VITA) sites are critical players in improving outreach to these populations, especially in the post-tax period, as they improve understanding of tax policy, have built trust with communities, provide information in multiple languages, and meet people where they are. ¹⁸ United Way is an organization which supports free VITA services to American families across the country whose income levels are below a certain threshold. ¹⁹

Financial Well-Being

Nonprofit organizations, private sector companies and philanthropy are often important partners in implementing financial inclusion and wealth-building strategies. Employers can facilitate emergency loan or grant programs, called Emergency Assistance Funds,²⁰ that workers can access when experiencing unexpected expenses or financial hardship. Employers and nonprofit organizations can also offer credit-building services and financial capability programs to help single parents and others with low assets understand how to identify and use financial services that can better suit their needs. One such model is offered by Working Credit,²¹ which provides training and individualized counseling for credit-building through partnerships with employers, community colleges, and other community-based organizations.

Organizations like Why We Lift provide mentorship services to single mothers to equip with the financial, educational, and career advancement skills that they need to increase their income, decrease debt, and build their savings.²²

Notes

- Theresa Anderson et al., "Understanding Coping Strategies of Mothers with Low Income" (Washington DC: Urban Institute, 2022), https://www.urban.org/research/publication/understanding-coping-strategies-mothers-low-income.
- ² "Jeremiah Program," n.d., https://jeremiahprogram.org/.
- ³ "Family Scholar House," n.d., https://familyscholarhouse.org/.
- ⁴ "The 2Gen Approach," Ascend Aspen Institute, n.d., https://ascend.aspeninstitute.org/2gen-approach/.
- ⁵ "4C for Children," n.d., https://www.4cforchildren.org/.
- ⁶ "Mississippi Low Income Childcare Initiative," n.d., https://www.mschildcare.org/.
- ⁷ "Child Care," The YMCA, n.d., https://www.ymca.org/what-we-do/youth-development/child-care.
- Autumn R. Green and Theresa Anderson, "Family-Friendly Campuses: Student-Parent Families at the Center" (Washington DC: Urban Institute, 2023), https://www.urban.org/research/publication/family-friendly-campuses-student-parent-families-center.
- ⁹ "Our Mission," Family Scholar House, n.d., https://familyscholarhouse.org/about-us/#our-mission.
- ¹⁰ "Generation Hope," n.d., https://www.generationhope.org/.
- "Advancing Opportunities for Women through Apprenticeship: A Case-Based Resource Guide" (Washington DC: U.S. Department of Labor Women's Bureau, 2021), https://www.dol.gov/sites/dolgov/files/WB/media/AdvancingOpportunitiesWomenthroughApprenticeship-jan2021.pdf.
- 12 "Home Visiting," Mary's Center, n.d., https://www.maryscenter.org/social-services/home-visiting/.
- ¹³ "What We Do," Institute for Health & Recovery, n.d., https://www.healthrecovery.org/page/what-we-do.
- ¹⁴ "Nourishing Healthy Starts," Operation Food Search, n.d., https://www.operationfoodsearch.org/fresh-rx-nourishing-healthy-starts/.
- ¹⁵ Janine Stankus, "Finding A Home: Jeremiah Program," Eastside Austin, n.d., https://www.eastsideatx.com/finding-a-home-jeremiah-program/.
- ¹⁶ "Family Rehousing Stabilization Program," Catholic Charities: Archdiocese of Washington, n.d., https://www.catholiccharitiesdc.org/program/family-re-housing-stabilization-program/.
- ¹⁷ "Support Single Moms," Fellowship Housing, n.d., https://www.fhcmoms.org/supportsinglemoms.
- Elaine Maag et al., "Share Our Strength Community of Practice Grant Case Studies" (Washington DC: Urban Institute, 2023), https://www.urban.org/research/publication/share-our-strength-community-practice-grant-case-studies.
- ¹⁹ "Volunteer Income Tax Assistance (VITA)," United Way of the National Capital Area, n.d., https://unitedwaynca.org/what-we-do/our-programs/economic-opportunity/volunteer-income-tax-assistance/.
- ²⁰ "Employee Relief And Emergency Assistance Funds," America's Charities, n.d., https://www.charities.org/employee-assistance-relief-funds/.
- ²¹ "Working Credit," n.d., https://www.workingcredit.org/.
- ²² "Why We Lift," n.d., https://www.whywelift.org/.

About the Authors

Elaine Waxman is a senior fellow in the Tax and Income Supports Division. Her expertise includes food insecurity, nutrition, the food assistance safety net, and social determinants of health disparities, as well as broader issues affecting families and communities with low incomes. She received her MPP and PhD from the University of Chicago, where she is currently a lecturer at the Crown Family School of Social Work, Policy, and Practice.

Poonam Gupta is a research associate in the Tax and Income Supports Division at the Urban Institute, where she focuses on social safety net policy. She works on several projects related to federal nutrition programs and food insecurity, as well as issues affecting immigrant and undocumented communities. Gupta holds BAs in public health and Spanish from the Johns Hopkins University and an MSPH in international health from the Johns Hopkins School of Public Health.

Baris Tezel is a research assistant in the Tax and Income Supports Division. He works on projects related to immigrant and undocumented communities, as well as federal nutrition programs and food insecurity. Tezel received a BA in economics from Boston College with a minor in International Relations.

ABOUT THE AUTHORS 93

STATEMENT OF INDEPENDENCE

The Urban Institute strives to meet the highest standards of integrity and quality in its research and analyses and in the evidence-based policy recommendations offered by its researchers and experts. We believe that operating consistent with the values of independence, rigor, and transparency is essential to maintaining those standards. As an organization, the Urban Institute does not take positions on issues, but it does empower and support its experts in sharing their own evidence-based views and policy recommendations that have been shaped by scholarship. Funders do not determine our research findings or the insights and recommendations of our experts. Urban scholars and experts are expected to be objective and follow the evidence wherever it may lead.



500 L'Enfant Plaza SW Washington, DC 20024

www.urban.org